

## Sede Amministrativa: Università degli Studi di Padova

Dipartimento di Agronomia Animali Alimenti Risorse Naturali e Ambiente

## SCUOLA DI DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN SCIENZE ANIMALI E AGROALIMENTARI CICLO XXXIV

## Technological and probiotic related assessment of new Lactic Acid Bacteria isolated from traditional fermented foods by physiological and molecular approaches

Supervisor: Prof. Alessio Giacomini Ph.D. Coordinator: Prof. Angela Trocino

Ph.D. Student: Shadi Pakroo

Academic Year: 2020-2021

## Contents

Abstract	5
Microbial diversity and nutritional properties of Persian "Yellow Curd" (Kashk zard),	a promising
functional fermented food	7
1.1. Introduction	8
1.2. Materials and Methods	9
1.2.1. Sample collection and processing	9
1.2.2. pH measurement	
1.2.3. 16S rRNA gene amplicon target sequencing	
1.2.4. Chemical and mineral compositions of YC samples	
1.2.5. Quantification of sugar content	
1.2.6. Statistical analysis	
1.3. Results and Discussion	
1.3.1. 16. S rRNA Gene amplicon target sequencing	
1.3.2. Chemical properties of YC samples	
1.3.3. Mineral content of YC samples	
1.3.4. Sugar content	
1.4. Conclusion	
Genomic and phenotypic evaluation of potential probiotic Pediococcus strains with	
hypocholesterolemic effect isolated from traditional fermented food	
2.1. Introduction	
2.2. Material and Methods	
2.2.1. Sample collection and isolation of bacteria	
2.2.2. DNA extraction and RAPD-PCR analysis	
2.2.3. Amplification and sequencing of 16S rRNA	
2.2.4. Determination of antibiotics minimum inhibitory concentration	
2.2.5. Hemolytic activity test	
2.2.6. Resistance to simulated gastrointestinal conditions	
2.2.7. Measurement of cholesterol assimilation	
2.2.8. Antimicrobial activity determination	
2.2.9. Genome sequencing, assembly, and annotation	
2.2.10. Bioinformatical analysis and comparative genomics	
2.2.11. Plant selection screening	

	2.2.12. Malva, Calendula, Echinacea fermentation	33
	2.2.13. Different concentration preparation of lyophilized supernatants	33
	2.2.14. Cytotoxicity effect on intestinal cell lines	33
	2.2.16. Statistical analysis	34
2	.3. Results and Discussion	34
	2.3.1. Strains isolation and identification	34
	2.3.2. Determination of the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC)	36
	2.3.3. Hemolytic activity test	39
	2.3.4. Resistance to simulated gastrointestinal conditions	39
	2.3.5. Measurement of cholesterol assimilation	40
	2.3.6. Screening for antimicrobial activity	42
	2.3.7. Genome sequencing, assembly, and annotation	42
	2.3.8. Bioinformatical analysis and comparative genomics	43
	2.3.9. Plant selection screening	46
	2.3.10. pH measurement before and after fermentation	47
	2.3.11. Bacterial enumeration	47
	2.3.12. Cytotoxicity effect on intestinal cell lines	48
	2.3.13. Cytotoxicity effect on Human Breast cancer cells (MCF -7)	49
2	.4. Conclusion	51
Effe the	ects of 2-fucosyllactose-based encapsulation on probioticproperties in <i>Streptococcus</i> rmophilus	52
3	.1. Introduction	53
3	.2. Materials and Methods	55
	3.2.1. Bacteria and growth conditions	55
	3.2.2. Encapsulation procedure	55
	3.2.3. Encapsulation Efficiency	56
	3.2.4. Storage stability in skimmed milk	57
	3.2.5. Survivability under simulated gastrointestinal conditions	57
	3.2.6. Release kinetics	58
	3.2.7. Statistical analysis	58
2	.3. Results and Discussion	59
3		
3	3.3.1. Morphology and encapsulation efficiency	59
3	<ul><li>3.3.1. Morphology and encapsulation efficiency</li><li>3.3.2. Storage stability in skimmed milk</li></ul>	59 60

3.3.4. Release kinetics	64
3.4. Conclusion	66
Exopolysaccharide producing Limosilactobacillus fermentum ING8, a potential multifunctional	
starter strain with relevant technological properties and antimicrobial activity	68
4.1. Introduction	69
4.2. Material and Methods	70
4.2.1. Sample collection and isolation of new LAB strains	70
4.2.2. DNA extraction and RAPD-PCR analysis	71
4.2.3. Lactose/galactose utilizers selection	71
4.2.4. Exopolysaccharide production and quantification	72
4.2.5. Antimicrobial activity determination	72
4.2.6. Safety assessments of <i>L. fermentum</i> ING8	73
4.2.7. Technological characterization of <i>L. fermentum</i> ING8	73
4.2.8. Genome sequencing, assembly, and annotation of <i>L. fermentum</i> ING8	75
4.2.9. Statistical analysis	75
4.3. Results and discussion	75
4.3.1. Strains isolation and RAPD-PCR analysis	75
4.3.2. Lactose and galactose utilization	76
4.3.3. Exopolysaccharide production	78
4.3.4. Antimicrobial activity determination	79
4.3.5. Safety assessments of <i>L. fermentum</i> ING8	80
4.3.6. Technological properties of <i>L. fermentum</i> ING8	80
4.3.7. Genomic analysis of <i>L. fermentum</i> ING8	81
4.5. Conclusion	84
References	85

## Abstract

Fermentation is an old technology to preserve foods for a longer time and to prepare different foodstuffs for local consumption. Fermented foods have had a long history in different countries due to homemade processing. Different types of traditional fermented foods and beverages are produced all over the world. Interestingly, in traditional fermentation process, commercial starter microbes are not used, and it is usually common to use the previous homemade product as a natural starter. Therefore, the community of microorganisms present can be pretty unknown and very interesting to be studied. Fermented foods are complex microbial ecosystems; many of them contain Lactic Acid Bacteria (LAB) as the predominant group playing a significant role in the fermentation process. Food fermentation by LAB usually provides palatability, high sensory quality, texture, stability, and nutritional properties. On the other side, potentially probiotic LAB, which can prevent or treat some illnesses and benefits human health, such as cholesterol-lowering capability, treatment or prevention of diarrhea, vitamin production and anti-cancer activity, are even more attractive bacteria to be further studied. In this thesis, we have evaluated the technological and probiotic-related properties of new lactic acid bacteria isolated from traditional fermented foods by physiological and molecular approaches.

Firstly, we have studied the microbial diversity and nutritional properties of "Yellow Curd" (Kashk zard) a traditional Persian fermented food, using classical microbiology approaches and 16S rRNA metabarcoding analysis. The metagenomics analysis revealed that lactic acid bacteria, particularly the genera Lactobacillus, Pediococcus and Streptococcus, were dominant in Yellow Curd. In addition, isolation, characterization and identification of new LAB with technological potential and probiotic properties, as well as functional foods preparation and characterization, have been carried out. The outcomes revealed that Pediococcus acidilactici strains IRZ12A and IRZ12B isolated from traditional Persian fermented food were safe and endowed with probiotic properties such as resistance to simulated gastrointestinal conditions and hypocholesterolemic effect. The complete genome of this promising P. acidilactici IRZ12B strain with the best cholesterol-lowering effect was sequenced, and the *in-silico* analysis evidenced the absence of plasmids, transmissible antibiotic resistance genes and virulence factors. Therefore, we tried to use P. acidilactici IRZ12B and three officinal plants, namely Malva, Calendula and Echinacea, for fermentation trials and consequently, possible functional food production. The fermented herbs with P. acidilactici IRZ12B were used to study their functionality on healthy and cancer cells.

Results showed that fermented herbs with the probiotic strain did not have any cytotoxic effect on healthy human intestinal cells (differentiated Caco-2); however, they could significantly reduce cell viability on breast cancer cells (MCF-7).

Secondly, some beneficial strains did not tolerate the storage condition and the human gastrointestinal passage. In this thesis, for the first time, we evaluated the use of 2'-fucosyllactose molecule in microencapsulation, and compared it with other known molecules, such as gelatin and inulin. Microcapsules, obtained by the extrusion technique, were evaluated in terms of encapsulation efficiency, storage stability, gastrointestinal condition resistance, and cell release kinetics. The alginate-based microcapsules showed interesting features, including the good capability to protect bacterial cells from harsh simulated gastrointestinal conditions. Compared to other molecules used in microencapsulation together with alginate, such as gelatin and inulin, 2'-fucosyllactose evidenced an extremely quick and abundant release of bacterial cells from the capsules inside a simulated intestinal fluid.

Lastly, we have studied the technological properties of LAB isolated from a traditional fermented Indian food (*Dahi*). As a result, strain *Limosilactobacillus fermentum* ING8 was found to possess a safe status with very interesting technological properties, such as galactose utilization, antimicrobial activity, exopolysaccharide production and survivability to long-term storage at refrigeration temperature. The complete genome evaluation of this promising strain confirmed the absence of possible deleterious elements, such as acquired antibiotic resistance genes, virulence genes, or hemolytic-related genes. However, all structural genes related to galactose operon and EPS production have been detected.

# **Chapter 1**

# Microbial diversity and nutritional properties of Persian "Yellow Curd" (*Kashk zard*), a promising functional fermented food

## Abstract

"Yellow Curd" (YC) is one of the most popular homemade Persian fermented foods and is consumed by many people. Notwithstanding, no studies are available to date on its nutritional and microbiological composition. In this study, we examined YC samples obtained from different local markets of Sistan and Baluchestan province, Iran. The results of the chemical analyses revealed a homogenous content of protein (13.71%  $\pm$  1.07), lipids (4.09%  $\pm$  0.73), and carbohydrates ( $61\% \pm 2.13$ ) among the samples. By comparing the average mineral content of YC with yogurt, many relevant differences were detected. Apart from the calcium content, which was similar on average to that of YC, all other minerals tested are present in higher amounts in YC than in yogurt. The analysis of the main sugars present (i.e., lactose, galactose and glucose) highlighted relevant differences among samples, indicating that different YC samples contain natural strains with different capabilities to metabolize sugars. The concentration of galactose in YC samples should be taken into consideration by galactose intolerant people. From the microbiological perspective, the metagenomics analysis revealed that lactic acid bacteria, and particularly the genera *Lactobacillus*, *Pediococcus*, and *Streptococcus*, were dominant in YC. The information provided shows that YC is an interesting base for the preparation of novel functional foods with a good content of beneficial bacteria.

## **1.1. Introduction**

Iran is a country rich in traditional foods that come from an ancient food preparation history.

"Yellow Curd" (YC) is one of the most popular homemade food products in the south-eastern part of Iran (i.e., Sistan and Baluchestan provinces), but it is also largely produced and consumed in other parts of the country, including the Khorasan province and the capital, Tehran.

Generally, YC is prepared by a combination of homemade yogurt (made from cow milk), wheat flour, different types of local aromatic herbs and spices (dill, coriander, cumin, turmeric, garlic) and salt. The preparation process includes two fermentation steps. First, a dough is made by adding wheat flour to the yogurt and maintaining the resulting mixture inside a specific earthen container for two weeks in a dark and warm (around 30 °C) place. Then, fresh yogurt and seasonings are added, kneaded with the dough and the resulting mix is again stored at the same conditions for another 7 to 10 days, during which a second fermentation takes place. The product is then distributed outside on the surface of sheets of textile and left to dry for up to 10 days. Lastly, the dried YC is ground to get a granulated product of 1–3 mm sized particles. YC is

consumed as a soup, prepared by dissolving about 6 g of powder in 1 L of water. To date, no studies are available in the literature on the chemical and microbiological characteristics of this product. Indeed, information about YC composition would be important to determine its nutritional value and the possible influence of food components on microbial selection and development. Knowledge of its microbiota composition would be relevant, since it is ascertained that microbes considerably influence many characteristics of fermented products, including safety, sensory characteristics, and nutritional aspects. To our knowledge, this study is the first report on the microbiological and chemical characteristics of YC, a poorly studied traditional product which constitutes one of the most consumed daily meals by people in several regions of Iran.

## **1.2.** Materials and Methods

## 1.2.1. Sample collection and processing

A total of 13 "Yellow Curd" (YC) samples were collected from seven different local household traditional markets in the Sistan and Baluchestan provinces (from different cities) in the southeast of Iran during August 2018 (Figure 1.1). Samples (approximately 100 g each) were collected in sterile plastic tubes, which were tightly capped and stored at room temperature. Samples were named from IRZ1 to IRZ13.



**Figure 1.1.** Geographic location of the Sistan and Baluchistan provinces in Iran and image of "Yellow Curd" (YC) powder.

#### 1.2.2. pH measurement

pH determination of YC samples was performed according to Zaika et al. (1) with slight modification. Briefly, 20 g of YC samples were added to 160 mL of distilled water and mixed thoroughly. The solution was filtered, and 50 mL of this solution was further diluted 1:1 with 50 ml of distilled water. The pH was measured using a digital pH meter (Orion Star A211, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) by immersing the electrode into the solution.

## 1.2.3. 16S rRNA gene amplicon target sequencing

Total genomic DNA was extracted using the DNeasy PowerSoil Microbial Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The quality and quantity of the extracted DNA were assessed by 1% agarose gel electrophoresis and with a Spark 10M spectrophotometer (Tecan Trading AG, Männedorf, Switzerland), respectively. The V3-V5 regions of the 16S rRNA genes were amplified by PCR and sequenced using an Illumina MiSeq desktop sequencer (Eurofins Genomics Germany GmbH, Ebersberg, Germany), producing 300 bp paired-end (PE) reads. Three separate aliquots (technical replicates) were analyzed for each YC sample. Then, 16S rRNA sequences were analyzed using the software CLC Genomics Workbench (V.8.0.2) with the microbial genomics module plugin (QIAGEN Bioinformatics, Germany). Finally, the Operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs) that were not automatically attributed were manually assigned to the genus level by similarity, using BLASTN Megablast. reads Raw were deposited in the Sequence Read Archive (SRA) database (10.1093/nar/gkq1019).

## 1.2.4. Chemical and mineral compositions of YC samples

Grinding of YC samples was done using a GRINDOMIX GM200 Retsch homogenizer for 10 sec at 4500 rpm. Protein and lipid content, as well as ash and dry matter weights, were determined as described by William (2).Minerals (namely calcium (Ca), potassium (K), magnesium (Mg), manganese (Mn), sodium (Na), phosphorus (P), and zinc (Zn)) were measured as described by(3), using a Milestone Start microwave oven (Milestone Srl Sorisole Bergamo, Italy) and the results were collected using a Inductively Coupled Plasma Optical Emission Spectrometry (ICP- OES) Spectro Arcos (Spectro Analytical Instruments GmbH, Kleve, Germany). Each analysis was performed in triplicate.

## **1.2.5.** Quantification of sugar content

Lactose, glucose, and galactose quantification in all samples was performed in triplicate by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). All solvents were filtered using 0.45  $\mu$ m filters. Ultrapure water was used for all dilutions and to prepare lactose, glucose and galactose standard solutions at concentrations between 0.005% (0.05 g/L) and 0.25% (2.5 g/L). Briefly, 5 g of YC samples were mixed with 50 mL of 7% perchloric acid (HClO4) in a volumetric flask and agitated for 10 min to precipitate proteins. Then, the pH was adjusted to 7.0 with 0.1 N NaOH and the solution was centrifuged at 6000 rpm for 2 min. Then, 1 mL of each sample was filtered using 0.22  $\mu$ m Polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) filters. Aliquots of 20  $\mu$ L were then injected into the HPLC for the analysis using a HyperRez XP Carbohydrate Ca2+ (300 × 7.7 mm) column and the following parameters: mobile phase = 100% ultrapure water, flow rate = 0.6 mL/min, pressure = 1100 psi, oven temperature = 80 °C, detection = RI(Refractive Index). The HPLC analysis time was 8:8 (min:sec) for lactose, 10:4 (min:sec) for glucose, and 11:25 (min:sec) for galactose, respectively.

## **1.2.6.** Statistical analysis

Data collected from chemical and mineral analyses were evaluated by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) using Minitab software (version 19, Minitab software, PA, USA).

The relative abundance of each OTU for every YC sample obtained from the bioinformatics analyses was normalized by log transformation log10 (xi + 1). Bacterial similarity among samples was evaluated by ANalysis Of SIMilarity (ANOSIM) with 9999 permutations using the Bray–Curtis similarity index in the PAleontological STatistics (PAST) 3.26 (4) software. The Statistical Analysis of Metagenomics Profiles (STAMP) software (5) was used to plot principal component (PC) diagrams, as well as to identify significant differences in terms of genus among different samples using ANOVA. Tukey–Kramer (p < 0.05) was chosen as the post-hoc test and Bonferroni was used for multiple test corrections. Alpha diversity indexes were compared within all YC samples using ANOVA in GraphPad Prism 7 (GraphPad Software LLC, La Jolla, CA, USA). Tukey test (p < 0.05) was used to adjust for multiple comparisons.

## 1.3. Results and Discussion

## 1.3.1. 16. S rRNA Gene amplicon target sequencing

In this study, we analyzed 12 samples of YC with three technical replicates each. By conducting a high throughput amplicon sequencing of the hyper variable regions V3–V5 of the 16S rRNA gene, a total of 943,135 high-quality sequences with an average length of 254 bp were obtained after the removal of low quality and chimeric sequences. Unfortunately, due to the excessively low number (less than 1000) of reads obtained, sample IRZ1 was excluded from the analyses, which then included 12 samples (from IRZ2 to IRZ13). The procedure adopted for DNA extraction did not reasonably determine the lysis of bacterial endospores; therefore, such microbes are not considered in the genetic analysis. Regarding the analysis of alpha diversity. The Chao1 and Shannon indices, accounting for the number of different species (richness) and microbial distribution (evenness), respectively, varied significantly among the samples (p < 0.05) (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2. Alpha diversity: Chao1 (A) and Shannon (B) analyses regarding the number of species (richness) and microbial distribution (evenness), respectively, across all samples (p < 0.05).

Indeed, multivariate analysis (ANOSIM, p = 0.0001, ANOSIM statistic R (R) = 0.9976) indicates a highly dissimilar microbial composition among YC samples (Figure 1.3), showing a relevant local influence on the bacterial diversity of these homemade products. Overall, principal components 1, 2 and 3 explain more than 93% of the variability (Figure 1.4).



**Figure 1.3.** Boxplot of ranked distance obtained in the ANOSIM test between groups and for twelve Yellow Curd samples obtained from different places in Iran.



**Figure 1.4.** Plot of the three principal components (PC) determined after principal component analysis (PCA) of 16S rRNA data from twelve Yellow Curd samples. Technical replicates from the same Yellow Curd are represented by equal symbols with the same color.

After the clustering process (at a 97% similarity threshold), a total of 327 OTUs were identified. In total, 71 OTUs with more than 0.5% relative abundance were considered as "the most abundant". In regard to taxonomy, it was possible to assign 76% of the sequences at the phylum level, 59% at the genus level, and 16% at the species level. At the phylum level, Firmicutes (92%) were highly predominant, followed by Proteobacteria (4%) (Figure 1.5A). This is in accordance with published studies [6,7] that reported that the bacterial microbiota of naturally fermented milk includes Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, and Bacteroidetes, but Firmicutes represent the large majority. Interestingly, the phylum Bacteroidetes was not included among the most abundant OTUs, probably as a consequence of the high sensitivity of these bacteria to oxygen present during YC production and storage (8); it could also be considered an index of good hygienic environmental level, since *Bacteroidetes* are mainly bacteria of intestinal origin. Additionally, the significant presence of Cyanobacteria could reasonably be attributed to chloroplast DNA from plant material (i.e., vegetables and seasonings) that are added to the curd. At the genus level, Lactobacillus (57%), Pediococcus (14%) and Streptococcus (12%) were the most abundant (Figure 1.5B). Members of the genus *Lactobacillus* have a relevant role in the production of traditional fermented foods, since this heterogeneous genus includes thermophilic species able to grow well by fermenting several sugars (9, 10). Of the bacterial sequences assigned to Lactobacillus species (L. brevis, L. plantarum, L. reuteri, L. vaginalis, and L. zeae), L. plantarum was identified in all samples in this study (Spreadsheet 1). As reported by several studies, this species is frequently isolated from traditional dairy products and contains strains with remarkable probiotic and technological properties(11, 12). We also conducted a MegaBLAST search to find the best hit at species level for the OTUs assigned to the genus Lactobacillus. Interestingly, this analysis allowed for the identification of three other species, namely L. delbrueckii, L. pontis and L. fermentum, which are frequently isolated from sourdoughs (naturally fermented flour-water mixtures used in the production of baked goods). These microbes could come from cereals that are added to YC in the manufacturing process, which is a potential source of lactobacilli (13).





Figure 1.5. Relative abundance of bacterial groups of YC samples at the phylum (A) and genus (B) level.

A heat map of relative abundance and distribution based on bacterial genera (Figure 1.6.) was constructed with the software MultiExperiment Viewer (MeV) (14). A high presence of *Pediococcus acidilactici*, a species frequently found in traditional cereal fermentations but not typical of dairy products(15) ,was observed among the samples and found to be particularly present in three samples (IRZ2, IRZ5, and IRZ8). Interestingly, in these samples, a concomitant

lower abundance of *Lactobacillus* was noticed that could be correlated to some antagonistic activity, possibly linked to the synthesis of antibacterial proteins (bacteriocins), a characteristic quite widespread among pediococci (16) .Indeed, *P. acidilactici* is a well-known bacteriocin (pediocins)-producing species active against Gram-positive bacteria (mainly *Listeria* and some Lactic Acid Bacteria (LAB)) that is of interest in the food industry for its potential application in biopreservation (15, 17).Furthermore, *P. acidilactici* has attracted attention as a promising probiotic, as evidenced by some studies (18, 19) .The genus *Streptococcus* was found consistently in all samples at percentages ranging from 2% (IRZ2) to 31% (IRZ6) of relative abundance. Although 16S rRNA analysis used in this study cannot achieve the species level for this genus, a MegaBLAST search revealed 100% identity with *S. thermophilus* strains, including the type strain ATCC 19258. *S. thermophilus* is naturally present and industrially used worldwide in the manufacture of many homemade and industrial fermented dairy products such as yogurt, *tarag, kurut* and *dahi* (6, 20).



Figure 1.6. Heatmap reporting the levels of microbial diversity in terms of genera among YC samples.

## **1.3.2.** Chemical properties of YC samples

The results of chemical analyses, namely pH, protein and lipid contents, and ash and dry matter weights of YC samples are reported in Figure1.7. Regarding pH, all products were acidic due to the fermenting activity carried out by lactic acid bacteria on the milk used to obtain the yogurt that constitutes the basis of this food product. The highest pH (Figure 1.7A) was recorded for sample IRZ4 (5.1) which was the only sample that was significantly different (p < 0.05) from all other samples, which gave values below 4.6 (mean: 4.18). Values below pH 4.6 are sufficient to prevent the growth of most pathogenic bacteria(21),thus enhancing the microbiological safety and shelf life of this product.

Regarding dry matter, which represents the weight of a food product from which water and volatile substances have been removed (22, 23),the average percentage considering all YC samples was 91.82%, with values ranging from 88.5% in sample IRZ2 to 93.9% in sample IRZ8 (Figure 1.7B). These very high values are related to the nature of YC, which is substantially a dried product. This makes YC a product that is very different from most milk-based fermented foods which have a much lower dry matter content, such as yogurt (about 13%).

In Figure 1.7C, the percentage composition of the main nutrient categories (namely protein, lipids, ash, and carbohydrates) is reported. While the first three components were determined analytically, carbohydrates were determined by subtraction of these three from the dry matter and it comprises all forms of carbohydrates, including monosaccharides, oligosaccharides, polysaccharides, both soluble and insoluble fiber (i.e., starch and cellulose). As shown in Figure 1.7C, all samples display a similar composition, demonstrating a homogenous manufacturing process adopted among the sampled locations.





Figure1.7. Chemical properties of YC samples: pH (A); dry matter (B); ash, lipids, protein, and carbohydrates (C).

IRZ6

IRZ7 IRZ8

Lipid

Protein

IRZ9 IRZ10 IRZ11 IRZ12 IRZ13

Carbohydrate

20.0 10.0 0.0

IRZ1

IRZ2 IRZ3

Water content

IRZ4

IRZ5

Ash

#### **1.3.3.** Mineral content of YC samples

Mean values are  $7.91\% \pm 1.66$  for ash,  $13.71\% \pm 1.07$  for protein,  $4.09\% \pm 0.73$  for lipids and  $61\% \pm 2.13$  for carbohydrates. Ash includes the total amount of minerals in the product that play a significant role in nutritional value, quality, and microbiological stability (24). Lipid content is important in the dairy industry since it is a key source of energy and fatty acids. Lipids can be also very beneficial at delivering fat-soluble vitamins, such as vitamin A, D, E, and K (25). Protein plays a key role in the texture and sensory properties of dairy products (25), as well as nutritional and health values (26). Compared to a similar Iranian dried fermented milk product "dried kashk" (27),YC contains three times less protein and about 1.5 times less fat, while it is more abundant in carbohydrates due to the addition of wheat flour during YC production.

YC is consumed as a soup, which is obtained by dissolving about 6 g of powder in 1 L of water. Considering an average serving of about 250 mL (one dish), the contribution of each serving corresponds to about 0.2 g of protein, 0.06 g of lipid, 0.92 g of carbohydrate and 0.12 g of ash (minerals). Compared to yogurt, the most diffuse fermented milk, YC provides about four times more protein, the same amount of lipids, 14 times more carbohydrates and 11 times more ash (i.e., minerals). Indeed, due to the dilution of the powder in the soup, the actual intakes are lower. The mineral content of foods is important in relation to their nutritional value. In the case of YC, this property relies mostly on the characteristics of the milk used to produce the yogurt, which can be related to several factors such as the animal's genetic background, the type of pasture, and the environmental conditions. The mineral content is also dependent on the other ingredients added during the manufacturing of YC, such as the wheat flour, seasonings and salt. We measured the concentration of seven of the most nutritionally relevant minerals, namely calcium (Ca), potassium (K), magnesium (Mg), manganese (Mn), sodium (Na), phosphorous (P), and zinc (Zn) ions in all YC samples (Table 1.1). The concentrations of K (mean value:  $8038.4 \pm$ 766.1 mg/kg), Mg (mean value:  $1655.8 \pm 114.0$  mg/kg), Mn (mean value:  $28.8 \pm 3.7$  mg/kg), P (mean value:  $4059.6 \pm 356.4$  mg/kg) and Zn (mean value:  $27.6 \pm 3.3$  mg/kg) showed little variation among samples, up to about 10% from the respective means, indicating a quite homogeneous YC composition throughout the regions sampled. Regarding Ca, its variability appears much higher, probably due to the characteristics of the milk used (28), which represents a major source for this mineral in YC. Na was present in high amounts (mean: 19.16 g/kg) and its variability was high among the samples, from about 10 to 30 g/kg. Although these values are considerably higher than values reported in the literature regarding other types of "wet" curds (29, 30), another Iranian type of dried curd (27) was also found to contain between 38 and 40 g/kg of NaCl. Due to the lack of a standard recipe, different homemade processes can make use of various amounts of sodium chloride, with the aim of influencing both sensory and safety aspects of YC.

By comparing the average mineral content of yogurt with that of YC, many relevant differences can be detected. Apart from the calcium content (1200 mg/kg in yogurt), which is similar on average to that of YC, all other minerals tested are much more present in YC than they are in yogurt. In detail, K is about five times higher, Mg is 13 times higher, Mn is 720 times higher, and P and Zn are about four times higher. The sodium content of YC is 43 times greater than that of yogurt, but this is not surprising since in yogurt there is no addition of NaCl, differently from YC. Indeed, due to the dilution of the powder in the soup, the actual intakes are lower.

	Ca	К	Mg	Mn	Na	Р	Zn
IRZ1	2414.5±78.5	8062.3±129.2	1706±8.3	27.6±0.1	14277.9±150.5	3544.4±27.4	27.4±0.1
IRZ2	1627.1±42	9082.2±219.7	1824.1±49.5	33.6±1	18235.1±569.1	3938.2±147.1	26.7±0.5
IRZ3	2256.9±59.5	7961.4±45.1	1565.8±33.4	22.4±0.2	21761.1±280.6	3838.9±51.5	25.1±0.4
IRZ4	1709.6±79.3	8581.8±265.8	1690±57.5	30.1±1.4	24106.6±1051.1	3789.4±153.8	19.6±0.8
IRZ5	1404.6±40.9	7244.9±73.1	1658±12.3	24.7±0.2	17747.6±187.1	4304.7±38.5	32.7±0.3
IRZ6	1368.4±43.7	7387.5±138.2	1524.7±42.8	$27.4 \pm 0.4$	30069.1±734.7	3520.3±87.8	32.4±0.7
IRZ7	1965.5±31.3	7675.4±169.5	1594.6±45.9	26.3±0.8	22176.2±846.1	4500.7±156.1	$28.7 \pm 0.7$
IRZ8	1359.1±13.6	7923.2±41.6	1835.7±6.9	27.8±0.3	15896.9±67.1	4633.5±34.5	28.7±0.2
IRZ9	2280.1±133.4	8703.7±402.5	1582.6±83.4	25.3±1.4	19659.3±890.3	4204.5±225.7	26.9±1.5
IRZ10	1476.1±73	7379.1±48.6	1666.8±72.2	33.8±0.7	10168.6±69.7	4297.6±47.6	24.3±1.1
IRZ11	1860.1±38.9	7554.7±167	1660.1±58.2	30.9±0.7	8911.9±240.4	4400.6±119.7	$28.6 \pm 0.8$
IRZ12	3035.0±107.7	9689.4±280.6	1770.3±42.6	33.7±0.9	23286.5±376.7	3939.3±92.8	28.2±0.4
IRZ13	1894.7±67.9	7253.5±134.2	1446.4±42.3	31.1±0.9	22817.1±309.2	3862.7±154.6	29.5±0.7
Mean	1853.1±490.9	8038.4±766.1	1655.8±114.0	28.8±3.7	19162.6±5637.7	4059.6±356.4	27.6±3.3

**Table 1.1.** Mineral content of YC samples (mg/kg dry weight). Results are expressed as means  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) (n = 3).

#### **1.3.4. Sugar content**

We measured the three quantitatively most important sugars in YC, namely lactose, galactose, and glucose. Lactose comes from milk, where it is normally present at a concentration of 3.5-4%, while galactose is excreted from cells of the LAB strains that are unable to utilize it after lactose hydrolysis. The concentration of galactose in YC samples should be taken into consideration with respect to galactose intolerant people. Many people around the world suffer from galactosemia, which is a sort of disorder caused by the deficiency of galactose-1-phosphate uridylyltransferase (GALT) (31). This enzyme is important in the Leloir pathway of galactose metabolism (32). Although morbidity and mortality from galactosemia have been prevented in many countries because of medical screening, in poor districts such as Sistan and Baluchestan provinces, the prevalence could still be high (31) .Glucose comes from plant material, particularly from wheat flour after partial starch hydrolysis. The average concentration of lactose, glucose, and galactose among all samples was  $1.28 \pm 0.32$ ,  $0.98 \pm 0.80$  and  $1.51 \pm 0.55$  g/100g, respectively (Figure 1.8). Since the average carbohydrate content is quite similar among the YC samples, the differences in carbohydrate content recorded are likely to be due to microbial activity during fermentation.



**Figure1.8.** Concentration of sugars in YC samples determined by HPLC analysis. Results are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD (n = 3).

Considering the three most abundant LAB genera found in YC samples, all streptococci of dairy origin are able to utilize lactose, whereas only some species of *Lactobacillus* can degrade it, and lactose is normally not metabolized by pediococci (33, 34). Among the lactose-utilizing strains, the capability to use galactose is strain dependent (35). Glucose is metabolized by pediococci and by lactobacilli, while streptococci use it slowly or not at all, depending on the strain (35, 36). By comparing carbohydrate values with microbiome analysis, we were not able to find any significant correlation with a bacterial category. Therefore, the differences in the carbohydrate pattern are most likely due to the presence of different strains with different metabolic capabilities regarding sugar metabolism. Such differences appear to be quite relevant, particularly in the case of glucose.

## **1.4.** Conclusion

This work represents the first study on yellow curd, a widespread fermented food largely consumed in some regions of Iran. By using both a canonical and a molecular approach we were able to characterize the microbiota of YC. In particular, we detected that most bacteria were not alive in the final product, stored as powder, with the exception of a considerable number of putative *Bacillus* spore. In addition, by 16s RNA sequencing, we were able to determine the bacterial categories that developed during the fermentation process. These bacteria, although no longer alive, contributed to define the characteristics of the products, its safety and possibly to enrich it by producing valuable compounds. This latter possibility was none investigated and could be valuable matter for further studies. We also measured the main nutritional components and found that the powder has a good content of protein, lipid and it is rich in carbohydrate, mainly probably starch and cellulose from plant material and from wheat flour. Unfortunately, the dilution of the powder used to prepare the soup, which represents the common way of consumption, considerably reduced the nutritional contribution. In this sense, an interesting future development could be the use of the YC powder as base for the preparation of novel functional foods.

## Chapter 2

Genomic and phenotypic evaluation of potential probiotic *Pediococcus* strains with hypocholesterolemic effect isolated from traditional fermented food

## Abstract

The use of probiotic microorganisms in food with the aim to confer health benefits to the host is one of the most critical roles of functional foods. Many pediococci bacteria frequently related to the meat environment, have technological properties and are therefore commercially used as starter in the production of fermented meat products, such as different types of sausages. In this study, different lactic acid bacteria were isolated, identified to the species level, and then evaluated for their safety and functionality as possible probiotics. Different properties, such as resistance to simulated human gastrointestinal conditions, antimicrobial activity and cholesterol-lowering effects, have been studied. Finally, the complete genome of one strain, namely P. acidilacticiIRZ12B, which showed interesting features as a promising probiotic candidate, was sequenced and further studied. The results revealed that IRZ12B possesses interesting probiotic properties, particularly cholesterollowering capability and antimicrobial activity. In-silico analysis evidenced the absence of plasmids, transmissible antibiotic resistance genes, and virulence factors. We also detected a bacteriocin coding gene and a cholesterol assimilation-related protein. The phenotypical and genomic outcomes described in this study make P. acidilactici IRZ12B a very interesting cholesterol-lowering potential probiotic strain to be considered for the development of novel non-dairy-based functional foods.

## **2.1. Introduction**

The term 'probiotic' was derived from a Greek word that means "for life". According to the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) and the World Health Organization (WHO), probiotics are defined as "live microorganisms which, when ingested in adequate amounts, confer a health benefit on the host"(37). Presently, the use of probiotics is being increasingly adopted in the production of functional foods. The probiotic bacteria mostly used in functional products belong to the genera *Lactobacillus*, *Bifidobacterium*, *Pediococcus*, *Enterococcus*, *Bacillus*, *Streptococcus* and *Escherichia* (38–40). In order to evaluate the probiotic potential of a strain, experts from FAO, WHO, and European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) have established specific guidelines (41). According to these recommendations, besides conferring some health benefits to humans, a newly proposed strain must be able to withstand passage through the human gastrointestinal tract, being able to tolerate gastric conditions and grow in the presence of bile (42). Over the last twenty years, probiotic

bacteria have gained importance due to the continuously increasing scientific evidence of their beneficial effects on human health. Among other actions, probiotic strains can help reducing the risk of heart diseases caused by high levels of cholesterol in the blood (43). They can decrease the level of cholesterol in different ways, such as binding the cholesterol molecule to their cell surface and then incorporating it into the cellular membrane (44),by deconjugation of bile *via* bile salt hydrolysis activity or by cholesterol conversion to coprostanol (45). The antimicrobial activity of probiotics against pathogens is another interesting feature, frequently found inside this group of bacteria. Bacteriocin-producing probiotics are widespread among lactic acid bacteria (LAB)(46). Pediocins are a group of class II-a bacteriocins produced by *Pediococcus* strains, endowed with antimicrobial activity against some Gram-positive bacteria, including *Listeria* (47). Pediococci are frequently isolated from the meat environment and several strains have shown interesting technological properties in production of fermented meat products and are used as starters. If they possess probiotic features, they could become interesting for the production of novel non-dairy-based functional food.

Officinal plants as natural medicines have a long history from ancient people, and the usage of medicinal plants as cure or treatment has been handed down from one generation to the other from all over the world (48). *Echinacea* from the family Asteraceae is well known as a traditional medicinal plant, and it has many benefits. Firstly people from North America were using it for diseases, infections, sores, and injuries. Recent studies showed that *Echinacea* also has other benefits such as antimicrobial and antiviral activity, anti-inflammatory, boosting the immune system, antioxidant activity (49).

*Malva,* from the family Malvaceae, is another famous traditional plant that mostly comes from Asia, Europe, and North Africa. Recent studies indicate that it also benefits human health through anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, anti-complementary, anti-cancer, and skin tissue integrity activity (50).

*Calendula* from Asteraceae family, is another famous medicinal plant from southwestern Asia, Western Europe, Macaronesia, and the Mediterranean, mostly known as marigolds. *Calendula* has shown fascinating broad therapeutic effects such as anti-inflammatory, anti-diabetes, and treating skin diseases, wounds, and herpes (51). During the last decade, development and innovation in food biotechnology carried to an estimated growth tendency rate of 28% per year of novel products with functional claims (52). Nowadays, food plants, are considered a simple nutritional intake and a potential source of healthy and natural products due to different natural molecules and active compounds (53). The research towards

non-dairy functional foods is expanding due to the evolving trend of vegetarianism, the increasing prevalence of lactose intolerance, the effects of dairy products on cholesterol levels, and the demand for foods that improve well-being and reduce the risk of disease (52). In particular, a significant interest in natural antimicrobial, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and immuno-modulatory compounds encourages the nutraceutical industry to exploit plant potential even more.

In this study, we have isolated and identified some potential probiotic strains from a traditional Iranian fermented food and have studied them for the presence of potential probiotic properties, in particular the capability to lower cholesterol levels. Finally, the best strain has been used to produce herbal functional fermented foods.

## 2.2. Material and Methods

## 2.2.1. Sample collection and isolation of bacteria

A total of 14 yellow curd samples were collected from different local households' traditional markets of the Sistan and Baluchestan province, in South East of Iran (54). Isolation of bacteria from the samples was carried out using 5 g of powder from each sample inoculated into 50mLof MRS (De Man Rogosa Sharp, Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO, USA) broth and incubated anaerobically without agitation at 37°C for 48h. Following incubation, serial dilutions were plated on MRS agar and incubated anaerobically at 37°C for 48h to produce separated colonies. Only 6 out of 14 samples produced colonies on plates. One representative colony was taken from samples IRZ6 and IRZ7, that produced colonies with the same morphology, while 2 colonies each were collected from samples IRZ8, IRZ12, IRZ13, and IRZ14 that showed two different morphologies on plates .All isolates were subjected to Gram staining, microscope inspection for cell morphology determination, catalase and oxidase tests. Stock cultures were prepared in MRS broth containing 25% (v/v) glycerol and kept at -80 °C until further use.

## 2.2.2. DNA extraction and RAPD-PCR analysis

DNA extraction was done according to Tarrah *et al.*(55)with slight modifications. Briefly, 5mL of overnight bacterial cultures were centrifuged at 5500 g for 5 min, washed 2 times with5 mL sterile PBS (PBS; NaCl 8.0 g/L, KCl 0.2 g/L, Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> 1.44 g/L, KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 0.24

g/L, pH 7.4, Sigma-Aldrich) and added to $50\mu$ L of lysis buffer (NaOH 0.05 M + SDS 0.25%). The suspension was vortexed for 2 min and then incubated at 94°C for 15 min using a thermal cycler (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). Finally, the supernatant, obtained after centrifugation at 13,000g for 10 min, was collected and diluted1:100 in ultrapure sterile water. The RAPD-PCR analysis was performed using primer M13 (5' GAGGGTGGCGGTTCT 3') according to the protocol by Andri ghetto *et al.* (56). Electrophoretic profiles were analyzed using the software package, Gel Compar Version 4.1 (Applied Maths, Kortrijk, Belgium), and a dendrogram was drawn by using UPGMA (Unweighted Pair Group Method with Arithmetic Mean) based on the Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient.

## 2.2.3. Amplification and sequencing of 16S rRNA

Strains identification was carried out by16S rRNA sequencing using the universal primers 27F (5' GAGTTTGATCNTGGCTCAG3') and 519R(5'GWNTTACNGCGGCKGCTG3')(57, 58)(BMR, Padova, Italy). Amplification and sequencing of the amplified products were done as previously described by Clarridge [16], and 16S rRNA sequences were compared with those available in the GenBank database using the BLASTN program (59) at the National Center for Biotechnology Information server.

## 2.2.4. Determination of antibiotics minimum inhibitory concentration

Determination of Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) of eight antibiotics among those recommended by the European Food Safety Authority(EFSA, 2008)[18]was carried out according to Wiegand et al. (61) using the microdilution method in 96-well microtiter plates. Chloramphenicol, streptomycin, ampicillin, kanamycin, tetracycline, erythromycin, vancomycin and gentamycin (Sigma-Aldrich) were dissolved in ISO-Sensitest broth (Sigma-Aldrich) plus 10% MRS (Sigma-Aldrich) and distributed as 2-fold serial dilutions in the microtiter plate wells. Each microtiter well was then inoculated with the bacterial culture to a concentration of  $5 \times 10^5$  CFU/mL. The MIC was determined as the antibiotic concentration in the first well with no visible growth after 20 h of incubation. The test was performed in triplicate.

#### 2.2.5. Hemolytic activity test

Twenty  $\mu$ L of fresh bacterial cultures were spotted onto MRS plates containing 5% (w/v) sheep blood (Thermo Fisher Scientific, United States) and incubated at 37°C for48 h. Hemolytic activity was revealed by the presence of a clear halo surrounding the colonies. The experiment was performed with three biological replicates, each one in triplicate.

#### 2.2.6. Resistance to simulated gastrointestinal conditions

Strains susceptibility to simulated gastrointestinal conditions was determined as previously described by Tarrah et al. (62). Cell suspension obtained after two subcultures to activate the cells completely were subjected to simulated gastric conditions for 1 h. Susceptibility to intestinal conditions was evaluated right after the gastric passage for a further 3 and 5 h. Microbial viability after each step was checked out using the micro drop technique by placing 20  $\mu$ L of each dilution on the surface of a MRS agar plate. The experiment was repeated three times with three technical replicates each.

## 2.2.7. Measurement of cholesterol assimilation

Cholesterol assimilation by bacterial cells was determined using the colorimetric method described by Miremadi et al.(63) With a slight modification. Initially, 100µL of an overnight culture of bacterial strains were grown in 10 mL MRS broth containing 0.3% bile-salt ox gall (Sigma-Aldrich) and 100µg/mL of filter-sterilized cholesterol (Sigma-Aldrich) and incubated at 37 °C for 24 h. After incubation, cultures were centrifuged at 5,000 g for 15 min at 4°C, and 1mL of the supernatant was collected to calculate bacteria cholesterol assimilation. One milliliter of the supernatant was added to 1 mL of 33% (w/v) KOH and 2 mL of 96% ethanol, vortexed for 1 min and incubated at 37 °C for 15 min. The solution was then equilibrated to room temperature prior to adding 2 mL of sterile water and 3 mL of hexane. The mixture was vortexed for 1 min and left to stand for phase separation. The upper hexane layer (approximately 2mL) was transferred into a 24 well microtiter plate and evaporated under a nitrogen gas atmosphere. Then, 2 mL o-phthalaldehyde (0.5 mg/mL in glacial acetic acid, Sigma-Aldrich) were added to the wells and mixed gently to dissolve the residues completely. To this, 0.5 mL of 98% sulphuric acid (Sigma-Aldrich) were added, vortexed for 1min, and incubated for 10 min at room temperature before measuring the absorbance at 550nm with a microtiter plate reader (Spark 10M, Tecan GmbH, Grödig, Austria). Cholesterol concentration was determined using a standard curve from 0 to 100µg/mL. The experiment was repeated 2 times, with 3 technical replicates. The capability to assimilate cholesterol was reported as the percentage of cholesterol removed after 24 h.

#### 2.2.8. Antimicrobial activity determination

Twenty  $\mu$ L of overnight cultures were spotted on the surface of two different MRS plates and incubated overnight. In one of the two plates, 2  $\mu$ L of proteinase K solution (20 mg/mL, pH 8) were spotted close to the cells spot to detect the production of bacteriocin compounds and incubated for 1 h. Successively, a lawn of 4 mL of BHI soft agar (Sigma-Aldrich) containing 400 $\mu$ L of an overnight culture of the indicator strains, namely *Escherichia coli* DH1, *Pseudomonas fluorescens* DSM50090, *Staphylococcus xylosus* DSM20266, *Bacillus subtilis* DSM10, *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* DSM7 and *Listeria innocua* DSM 20649 were poured on the top of the existing solid medium and plates were then incubated at 37 °C for 24 h. After incubation, plates were inspected for the presence of zones of growth inhibition surrounding the colonies. The presence of inhibition haloes in the MRS plate and the absence of haloes for the same strain in the protease-containing plate indicates the proteinaceous origin of the antimicrobial compound (64).

## 2.2.9. Genome sequencing, assembly, and annotation

Genomic DNA from *P. acidilactici* strain IRZ12B was extracted using the DNeasy PowerSoil Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer instructions. The quality assessment of the extracted DNA was evaluated spectrophotometrically (Spark 10M). Genome sequencing was carried out using the paired-end sequencing technology with an Illumina MiSeq sequencer (BMR).PATRIC database server 3.6.4 was used to assemble the raw reads using the Unicycler assembler set up on default parameters (65). The Rapid Annotation using Subsystems Technology (RAST) was used to predict and annotate the assembled genome (66).

## 2.2.10. Bioinformatical analysis and comparative genomics

A graphical genome map of *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B was constructed using the PATRIC 3.6.4 server (65)after scaffolding the assembled contigs using medusa webserver (67) and the type *strain P. acidilactici* DSM 20284<sup>T</sup> as the reference genome.

Genomes of 28 different strains from 10 *Pediococcus* species, including the type strain of each species available in Genbank (NCBI) along with *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B,were used to

construct the phylogenetic tree (Table 2.1). A fragmented all-against-all comparison using "BLASTN" mode was carried out with Gegenees software (68), setting the parameters on 500/500 (frag-size/slide-size) to compute the distance among the strains. Then, splitTree5 software was used to cluster the strains and create the phylogenetic tree using the neighbor-joining (NJ) method (69).

Comparative genomic analysis using the whole proteins content of the *P. acidilactici* cluster, including strains DSM 20284<sup>T</sup>, SRCN103444, GS1, E24, PMC48, and IRZ12B was done using the web platform Orthovenn (70) with default parameters. Strain genomes annotation was performed using the Rapid Annotation using Subsystems Technology (RAST), and the whole protein content from the genome of each strain was used for Pan/core-genome analysis.

Plasmid Finder 2.0 and Res Finder 3.2 servers were used to assess the presence of plasmids and transmissible antibiotic resistance genes on the genome, respectively (71, 72). Genes related to bacteriocin production in *P. acidilactici* IRZ12Bwere also identified using the BAGEL4 server (73).

<b>Table 2.1.</b> Pediococcus genoi	mes used for genetic analy
-------------------------------------	----------------------------

Strains	Accession number
P. acidilactici GS1	NZ_QNGC0000000
P. acidilactici SRCN103444	NZ_CP035266
P. acidilactici DSM20284T	NZ_AEEG01000000
P. acidilactici E24	NZ_SDQW0000000
P. acidilactici PMC48	NZ_CP050079
P. acidilactici IRZ12B	JABXOH00000000
P. argentinicus DSM23026T	NZ_JQCQ0000000
P. cellicola DSM17757T	NZ_JQBR00000000
P. claussenii TMW2.54	NZ_CP014936
P. claussenii TMW2.53	NZ_CP014933
P. claussenii DSM14800T	NZ_JQBB0000000
P. damnosus MBPD14610	NZ_LTEA00000000
P. damnosus DSM20331T	NZ_JQBD0000000
P. damnosus LMG28219	NZ_JANK0000000
P. damnosus VTTE123212	NZ_NAER00000000
P. damnosus VTTE123216	NZ_NAEQ00000000
P. ethanolidurans DSM22301T	NZ_JQBY0000000
P. ethanolidurans CGMCC1.3889	NZ_FOGK0000000
P. inopinatus DSM20285T	NZ_CP019981
P. inopinatus WIKIM15	NZ_BBIM00000000
P. parvulus 2.6	NZ_LXND0000000
P. parvulus NBRC100673	NZ_BJWE00000000
P. pentosaceus SL001	NZ_CP039378
P. pentosaceus JQI7	NZ_CP023655
P. pentosaceus DSM20336T	NZ_JQBF0000000
P. pentosaceus SL4	NC_022780
P. pentosaceus FBL2	NZ_LSFE00000000
P. stilesii DSM18001T	NZ_JQBX0000000
P. stilesii FAM18815	NZ_VBTH00000000

## 2.2.11. Plant selection screening

Two hundred milliliters medium were prepared by addition of 10g ground medicinal plants (*Malva, Calendula, Echinacea,* Olivo, Vite, Santoreggia) in 190 mL Milli-Q water (5%), autoclaved at 121°C for 20 min, and the supernatant was collected by centrifugation at 5500 for 10 min. Two milliliters of an overnight culture of *P.acidilactici* IRZ12B strain were used to inoculate each abovementioned media (1% culture), which was immediately transferred to a 96-well plate (200  $\mu$ L/well) and incubated at 37°C for 24h. The optical density was recorded every hour using Tecan Spark.

## 2.2.12. Malva, Calendula, Echinacea fermentation

The main fermentation was done by using a 1% overnight culture of *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B, inoculated in *Malva, Calendula,* and *Echinacea* media, and incubated at 37°C for 24h. One medium from each herb without bacterial inoculation was included in all experiments as non-fermented control. After the fermentation step, the corresponding bacterial load was checked and recorded using the 10-fold Serial dilutions technique, followed by plating on MRS agar medium, and incubation at 37°C for 24h. The initial and final pH for each medium was recorded as well.

## **2.2.13.** Different concentration preparation of lyophilized supernatants

Eighty milliliters of fermented and non-fermented herbal supernatant were collected by centrifugation at 5500g for 10 min. The pH was adjusted to 7.0 using 1N NaOH, filtered (0.22 $\mu$ m), and lyophilized using a freeze drier machine (Edwards Modulyo Freeze Dryer). Later, 0.1 g of each lyophilized powder was added to 10 mL of Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) and filtered for the second time. Finally, different concentrations (25, 50, 100, 200, and 500  $\mu$ g/mL) for differentiated Caco2 cells and 250 $\mu$ g/mL, 500 $\mu$ g/mL, and 1000 $\mu$ g/mL for MCF-7 cells were prepared for further analysis.

## **2.2.14.** Cytotoxicity effect on intestinal cell lines

To evaluate the cytotoxic effect of fermented plants on normal human cells, Caco-2BBe1 cells (healthy intestinal cells) were seeded into six-well plates at a concentration of  $10^5$  cells/well, and grown for 15 successive days after reaching confluency. Fully differentiated Caco-2BBe1 cells were treated with different concentrations (25, 50, 100, 200, and 500  $\mu$ g/mL) of non-fermented/ fermented plants (diluted in DMEM) and incubated at 37°C for 48 h under a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere (74). After treatment, cells were collected using Trypsin-EDTA 0.25% (Sigma-Aldrich) in falcon tubes, centrifuged, and the supernatant was discarded. Ultimately, cells were re-suspended in a fresh DMEM medium, stained with Trepan blue dye (0.4%, Gibson), and counted under the microscope to determine the viability percentage. This experiment was done in 3 biological replicates containing 2 technical replicates.

## 2.2.15. Cytotoxicity effect on Human Breast cancer cells (MCF -7)

To evaluate the cytotoxic effect of fermented plants on human breast cancer cells, MCF-7 cells were seeded into six-well plates at a concentration of 10<sup>5</sup> cells/well using DMEM medium together with 10% FBS and 1% penicillin/streptomycin. Plates were incubated at 37°C incubator containing 5% CO2 for 72h.

MCF-7 cells were treated with different concentrations  $(250\mu g/mL, 500\mu g/mL)$ , and  $1000\mu g/mL$ ) of non-fermented/ fermented plants (diluted in DMEM) and incubated for 48h in the same condition. The control wells were also treated with 1 mL of fresh DMEM medium. After the treatment, the cells were stained as already explained above and counted by a TC20 automated cell counter (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). This experiment was done in 3 biological replicates containing 2 technical replicates.

## 2.2.16. Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) using GraphPad Prism software (version 7, GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA).

## 2.3. Results and Discussion

#### **2.3.1.** Strains isolation and identification

*Kashk Zard* is a traditional Persian fermented food, prepared with a combination of homemade yogurt, wheat flour, different local spices (dill, coriander, cumin, turmeric, garlic), aromatic herbs, and salt. The mixture is then let to air dry completely and then ground into a yellow powder that is used to prepare soups [12]. Since this procedure determined the inactivation of most microorganisms, we were able to rescue only a very limited number of viable bacteria, evidently able to withstand very stressful conditions, that makes it particularly interesting to better characterize them. Thirteen bacterial colonies were isolated from MRS agar plates on the basis of different colony morphology. All isolates resulted Gram-positive, catalase- and oxidase-negative. Except for IRZ14B, which was rod-shaped, all isolates were cocci. A RAPD-PCR analysis was performed to discriminate different strains on the basis of their fingerprints (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1. Cluster analysis of RAPD-PCR fingerprints of isolates from Kashk Zard.

According to the UPGMA analysis, isolates IRZ6B, IRZ7A, IRZ13B, showing profiles similar to IRZ7B, IRZ6A and IRZ13A, respectively, were eliminated. The identification of the remaining 10 strains by partial 16S rRNA sequence analysis, detected seven *Pediococcus acidilactici*, two enterococci (*Enterococcus hirae* and *E. faecium*) and one *Lactobacillus pontis* strains (Table 2.2)

Strain ID	DNA Identity (%)	Species	Accession number
IRZ6A	99.08	Pediococcus acidilactici	MN189972
IRZ7B	98.55	Pediococcus acidilactici	MN189973
IRZ8A	98.71	Pediococcus acidilactici	MN189974
IRZ8B	98.90	Pediococcus acidilactici	MN189975
IRZ12A	98.51	Pediococcus acidilactici	MN189976
IRZ12B	97.83	Pediococcus acidilactici	MN189977
IRZ13A	98.74	Pediococcus acidilactici	MN189978
IRZ13C	99.25	Enterococcus hirae	MN189979
IRZ14A	99.62	Enterococcus faecium	MN189980
IRZ14B	99.44	Limosilactobacillus pontis	MN189981

Table 2.2. Strains identification, as determined by partial sequencing of 16S rRNA.

All the isolated strains belong to species included in the lactic acid bacteria (LAB) group and most (7 out of 10) to the species *Pediococcus acidilactici*, which is a species with the Qualitative Presumption of Safety (QPS) status, according to EFSA(75), thus making our strains potentially suitable for their use in foods.

## **2.3.2.** Determination of the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC)

MIC determination for eight antibiotics of human and veterinary importance was carried out for all strains (Table 2.3). Two main categories of antibiotics are generally recommended by EFSA(76) for the presence of possible resistance, namely inhibitors of cell-wall synthesis (ampicillin and vancomycin) and of protein synthesis (chloramphenicol, gentamicin, streptomycin, kanamycin, tetracycline, and erythromycin).All strains were susceptible to chloramphenicol, gentamicin, streptomycin, kanamycin, streptomycin, kanamycin, tetracycline, and erythromycin, tetracycline, erythromycin, and ampicillin, while resistance to the highest concentration of vancomycin, i.e.,64  $\mu$ g/mL, was recorded for all strains.

In addition to the QPS status, a safety assessment must be done at strain level and, among these,  $\beta$ -hemolytic activity and antibiotic resistance raise the major safety concerns (77, 78). In particular, determination of the antibiotic resistance pattern is crucial for a potential starter or probiotic bacteria to avoid the possibility of horizontal gene transfer to other bacteria, particularly to pathogens (35). Although the lack of acquired resistance against therapeutically used antibiotics is mandatory, the presence of natural (non-transmissible) antibiotic resistance
could be, on the contrary ,considered beneficial for conferring tolerance towards damage induced by antibiotic treatments (79). The MIC tests revealed that all *Pediococcus*, *Enterococcus* and *Lactobacillus* strains were sensitive to the antibiotics tested, according to the breakpoint values indicated by EFSA, with the sole exception of vancomycin. Vancomycin resistance represents a serious issue for lactic acid bacteria, particularly for enterococci (80). However, the resistance to vancomycin is also frequently found to be intrinsic (natural resistance, non -transmissible), thanks to the low permeability of the cell wall to the large aminoglycoside molecules(81–84). In addition, our *in-silico* analysis on IRZ12B genome did not reveal the presence of genes related to vancomycin resistance.

Antibiotics										
	IRZ6A	IRZ7B	IRZ8A	IRZ8B	IRZ12A	IRZ12B	IRZ13A	IRZ13C	IRZ14A	IRZ14B
Vancomycin	>64(4)	>64(4)	>64(4)	>64(4)	>64(4)	>64(4)	>64(4)	>64(4)	>64(4)	>64(4)
Kanamycin	64(64)	64(64)	64(64)	64(64)	64(64)	64(64)	64(64)	64(64)	64(64)	32(128)
Ampicillin	2(4)	2(4)	2(4)	2(4)	2(4)	2(4)	2(4)	2(2)	2(2)	2(4)
Tetracycline	4(8)	4(8)	4(8)	4(8)	2(8)	2(8)	4(8)	4(4)	2(4)	2(8)
Erythromycin	< 0.125(1)	< 0.125(1)	0.5(1)	< 0.125(1)	< 0.125(1)	< 0.125(1)	< 0.125(1)	1(4)	1(4)	0.5(1)
Chloramphenicol	4(4)	4(4)	4(4)	4(4)	4(4)	4(4)	4(4)	4(16)	4(16)	4(4)
Streptomycin	32(64)	32(64)	32(64)	32(64)	32(64)	32(64)	32(64)	32(128)	32(128)	32(64)
Gentamycin	4(16)	4(16)	8(16)	4(16)	4(16)	4(16)	4(16)	8(32)	8(32)	8(16)

**Table2.3.** MIC values for human and veterinary relevant antibiotics. Breakpoints values ( $\mu$ g/mL) suggested by EFSA for each drug are reported in parentheses. Strains with MIC higher than the breakpoint (in bold) are considered resistant.

#### **2.3.3. Hemolytic activity test**

The assessment of blood hemolytic activity conducted on MRS plates containing sheep blood indicated that none of the strains possess the  $\beta$ -hemolytic activity, and all strains were therefore considered as  $\gamma$ -hemolytic (i.e., without hemolytic activity).

#### **2.3.4. Resistance to simulated gastrointestinal conditions**

All strains exhibited a very good resistance level to the incubation in simulated gastric juice by showing a loss of viability lower than 0.2 log (Figure 2.2). Contrary, regarding intestinal conditions, two kinds of behavior were recorded. Strains IRZ6A, IRZ8A, IRZ12A, IRZ12B, and IRZ14B evidenced a low viability loss (<1 log) after prolonged (300 min) exposure. This value was more than 2.5 log better than that of the commercial strain L. rhamnosus GG, used as reference. In addition, L. rhamnosus GG was the only strain showing a markedly different behavior between 3 and 5 h of incubation in gastrointestinal juice. On the other side, strains IRZ7B, IRZ8B, IRZ13A, IRZ13C and IRZ14A showed a weak resistance to gastrointestinal conditions, since just after 180 min they had approximately3 logs decrease in viability .Based on these results, the best strains, i.e. IRZ6A, IRZ8A, IRZ12A, IRZ12B and IRZ14B, were selected for successive analyses. After the safety assessment, the capability to resist gastrointestinal conditions is fundamental for a putative probiotic strain, according to the definition of "probiotic" as "able to reach the gut and produce beneficial effects on the host" (85). The human stomach pH during fasting can vary from 1.3 to 2.5 and can increase up to 4.5 soon after a meal (86). It is well known that tolerance to gastrointestinal transit is strain-dependent, thus giving a good incentive to seek more robust strains in this respect for the foods and healthcare industry(87). In our study, Pediococcus and Lactobacillus strains showed a strong resistance to simulated gastrointestinal conditions. This outcome is in agreement with previous studies that reported high survival rates for *Pediococcus* and *Lactobacillus* probiotic strains (88–90). The capability to withstand strong acidic conditions is increased in fermenting bacteria by the activity of the  $F_0F_1$ -ATPase (91). This complex enzymatic functions as a membranous channel for proton translocation to create membrane potential(92), which can help in reducing cytoplasmic proton concentration .In addition, probiotic bacteria can also deconjugate bile-salt secreted by the liver thus becoming more resistant to the gut conditions(93).



**Figure 2.2.** Cell viability loss of LAB strains upon exposure to simulated gastrointestinal conditions. Black bars: after 1 h incubation (gastric test); grey bars: after 3 h incubation (short gastrointestinal test); white bars: after 5 h incubation (prolonged gastrointestinal test). Results are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD (n=3) of viable cells.

#### 2.3.5. Measurement of cholesterol assimilation

It has been reported that the activity of probiotics in the human gut can be part of therapeutic strategies to contrast metabolic disorders, such as hypercholesterolemia and obesity (94). Some probiotics have demonstrated to be able to lower blood cholesterol levels by different mechanisms, such as breaking down of prebiotic fibers to produce short-chain fatty acids in the gut, which can further inhibit cholesterol synthesis, or by assimilation and entrapment of cholesterol molecules into their membranes, thus eliminating cholesterol from the human gut (95–97). There are several studies on *Lactobacillus*, and *Bifidobacterium* strains with cholesterol assimilation activity (98, 99), while there are only few papers regarding cholesterol assimilation

by *Pediococcus* (100, 101). The cholesterol-lowering activity of *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B could be associated to the presence of cholesterol assimilation-related genes, coding membrane-associated proteins that can adhere to the cholesterol molecule and introduce it inside their cell (102) Cholesterol assimilation levels by strains grown in MRS broth supplemented with 0.3% ox gall and 100µg/mL cholesterol are reported in Figure 2.3. Only *P. acidilactici* IRZ12A and *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B could considerably lower the cholesterol level after 24h of incubation, with a 21.29 and 31.89% removal, respectively. One-way ANOVA indicated that the percentage of cholesterol assimilation varied significantly (p < 0.001) between these two strains. *Limosilactobacillus pontis*IRZ14B also revealed cholesterol-lowering potential; however, the amount of cholesterol reduced by this strain was around 5%, much less than the two *P. acidilactici* strains.



Figure 2.3.Cholesterol removal (%) of LAB strains incubated in MRS supplemented with 100  $\mu$ g/mL cholesterol.

#### **2.3.6.** Screening for antimicrobial activity

The same five strains tested for cholesterol assimilation were also tested for the presence of antimicrobial activity against some selected bacteria. All strains produced a growth inhibition zone on plates (approximately 10mm radius of inhibition) towards *E. coli* DH1, *P. fluorescens* DSM50090, *S. xylosus* DSM20266, *B. subtilis* DSM10, *B. amyloliquefaciens* DSM7 and *L. innocua* DSM 20649. The same haloes were also present in the plates added with proteinase K, indicating that such inhibitory activity was not determined by a protein. Some *Pediococcus* strains are also known to produce a class of bacteriocins, named pediocins, antibacterial peptides belonging to the class II-a endowed with antimicrobial properties against Gram-positive bacteria (47). Indeed, *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B did not display bacteriocinogenic activity against the bacteria tested in the present study but was able to contrast the growth of some indicator strains, most probably because of its good pH lowering capability.

#### 2.3.7. Genome sequencing, assembly, and annotation

Due to its very good capability to withstand gastrointestinal conditions and high ability to assimilate cholesterol, we decided to sequence the genome of strain IRZ12B to better examine the presence of potential features and/or problems. Nowadays, genome sequencing and analysis of new strains have become quite mandatory to define its exact taxonomy and to retrieve all the technological and safety-related information contained in its DNA (103, 104). The genome of the best cholesterol assimilating strain P. acidilactici IRZ12B was sequenced. The assembled genome produced 33 contigs (11 scaffolds), giving a genome size of 2.05 Mb with a GC content of 42.1%. The RAST server genome annotation showed a total number of 2064 predicted proteincoding sequences (CDSs) classified in 200 SEED subsystems .Fifty-six structural RNAs, and 16 genes related to different stress responses (osmotic, oxidative, and detoxification) were detected after the annotation too. It is worth mentioning that no virulence gene was detected from annotation. The largest section of the IRZ12B subsystem is allocated to the carbohydrate metabolism with 18.74% divided into different sub-classes as monosaccharides (29.37%), central carbohydrate metabolism (26.57%), di- and oligosaccharides (14.68%), fermentation (8.39%), amino sugars (6.99%), sugar alcohols (5.59%), organic acids (3.52%), one-carbon metabolism (2.79%), respectively.

The circular graphical genome map/annotation of P. acidilactici IRZ12B is shown in Figure 2.4. CDS on the forward and reverse strands, RNA genes, antimicrobial resistance genes (intrinsic), virulence factors, GC content, and GC skew are also reported in the map.



**Figure 2.4.**The circular graphical map includes, from outer to inner rings, CDS on the forward strand, CDS on the reverse strand, RNA genes, CDS with homology to known antimicrobial resistance genes, CDS with homology to known virulence factors, GC content, and GC skew. The colors of the CDS on the forward and reverse strands indicate the subsystem that these genes belong to.

#### 2.3.8. Bioinformatical analysis and comparative genomics

The complete chromosome alignment by BLASTN comparison between the genome of IRZ12B and those of 29 different *Pediococcus* strains, including the type strain of each known species,

confirmed that this bacterium belongs to the species *P. acidilactici,* according to its position in the dendrogram reported in Figure 2.5.



**Figure2.5.** Phylogenetic tree generated using the complete genomes of 28 different Pediococcus strains, including the type strain of each species along with *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B.

Pan/core-genome analysis using the Orthovenn server and the predicted amino acids from the six *P. acidilactici* genomes revealed that the core genome contains 1514 shared orthologous proteins (Figure 2.6A). All amino acid sequences were computed for their similarities using an e-value

cut-off of 1e–5 and an inflation value (–I) of 1.5 to define the orthologous cluster structure. The analysis detected a total of 2119 clusters with 628 orthologous clusters (at least contains two species). IRZ12B shares the largest number of orthologous proteins (1729) with *P. acidilactici* PMC48 (Figure 2.6B).



**Figure 2.6.** The Venn diagram indicates the distribution of pan/core genes among *P. acidilactici* clusters. The number of clusters for each strain is also reported in the bars. The values of shared or single orthologous are shown in the purple boxes.

A deep search within the genome of *P. acidilactici*IRZ12B also found cholesterol assimilationrelated genes, namely *ccpA*, *fba*, *lbpg\_rs11190*, *lbpg\_rs10085* (Table2.4). Moreover, the Res Finder and Plasmid Finder outcomes confirmed the absence of any acquired antibiotic resistance gene and plasmid sequences in *P. acidilactici*IRZ12B genome.

Gene	Gene description	Organism	Identity (%)	Accession number
CcpA	Catabolite control protein A	P. acidilactici SRCM103367	99.80	CP035151.1
Fba	Class II fructose-1,6-bisphosphate aldolase	P. acidilactici BCC1	99.88	CP018763.1
LBPG_RS11190	FMN-binding protein	P. acidilactici PMC65	99.82	CP053421.1
LBPG_RS10085	MFS transporter	P. acidilactici HN9	99.18	CP061715.1

Table 2.4. Identification of cholesterol assimilation-related genes in P. acidilactici IRZ12B

#### 2.3.9. Plant selection screening

For the screening step, six different medicinal plants, namely *Malva*, *Calendula*, *Echinacea*, Olivo (olive tree), Vite (grapevine), Santoreggia, were fermented with *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B, a potential probiotic strain. After the fermentation step, the outcome revealed that *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B could effectively ferment *Malva*, *Calendula*, *Echinacea* but not Olivo, Vite and Santoreggia, which could be due to the high nutritional value of *Malva*, *Calendula*, and *Echinacea*. (Figure 2.7)(103) (104), (105) .According to the result, *Malva*, *Calendula*, and *Echinacea* were selected for the fermentation by *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B.



Figure 2.7. *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B growth curve on *Malva, Calendula, Echinacea*, Olivo, Vite, and Santoreggia.

#### 2.3.10. pH measurement before and after fermentation

The pH before and after fermentation of three selected plants was recorded, and the outcome showed that *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B strain could acidify the *Calendula* significantly ( $p \le 0.05$ ) after the fermentation (Figure 2.8). We detected a slightly lower initial pH value for non-fermented *Calendula* (5.20) compared to *Echinacea* (5.46) and *Malva* (5.74). It is worth mentioning that similar pH values (no significant difference) have been recorded for all non-fermented herbal media before and after incubation. Usually, the LAB strains produce lactic acid from different carbohydrates, which result in pH reduction (106)



**Figure 2.8.** pH value recorded before and after fermentation for *Calendula*, *Malva* and *Echinacea* with *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B

#### 2.3.11. Bacterial enumeration

The bacterial population count was recorded before and after fermentation in all combinations. We have detected more than 1.2 logarithmic growth, which proves the high nutritional values of these three plants. The bacteria used in this study are all fastidious and require different kinds of vitamins and amino acids to grow. The highest growth has been detected in *Calendula*+ IRZ12B with a 2.3 log growth (Figure 2.9).



**Figure 2.9.** *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B enumeration (log CFU/mL) before and after fermentation on Calendula, Malva, and Echinacea.

#### 2.3.12. Cytotoxicity effect on intestinal cell lines

Cytotoxicity effects of the fermented/non-fermented plants on differentiated human intestinal cells were evaluated using different concentrations (25, 50, 100, 200, and 500  $\mu$ g/mL). The results indicated no significant viability reduction when the cells were treated with different concentrations of no-fermented/ fermented plants compared with the control (DMEM). Therefore, we could consider them as non-toxic to healthy intestinal cells (Figure 2.10). Using officinal plants as natural medicine is widespread worldwide, and their history dates back to ancient people. One of the main concerns about medicinal plants is their safety assessments on human health, whether they can affect the cell viability of healthy human cells or not. Differentiated Caco2 cells were isolated in 1977 from the human intestinal cell line (107). From 1977 onward, this type of cell has been considered for different *in vitro* studies (108). Interestingly, many studies have proved that medicinal herbs do not possess any toxicity against differentiated Caco2 cells (healthy cells), while they can negatively affect carcinogenic Caco2 cells. (109).



**Figure 2.10.** Differentiated Caco2 cell viability after treatment with fermented *Calendula, Malva,* and *Echinacea*.

#### 2.3.13. Cytotoxicity effect on Human Breast cancer cells (MCF -7)

The cytotoxicity effect of the fermented/non-fermented plants was carried out using different concentrations. The outcome showed that the fermented *Calendula* with potential the probiotic strain IRZ12B could significantly inhibit the growth of cancer cells (Figure 2.11). A breast cancer cell line (MCF-7) was isolated for the first time in 1970 from a 69-year-old woman at the Michigan Cancer Foundation (110). From that time onward, many scientists worked on MCF-7 cells to find ways to treat breast cancer cells and deeply study the pathways and reasons behind them.

The effects of natural compounds on cancer cells are related to suppressing initiation, promotion, or progression of tumours. Dietary phytochemicals have an anti-cancer impact on different

molecular mechanisms and depend on their action by using various molecular targets. They have different pathways on oncogenic signalling (111). As reported in other studies, a variety of bioactive compounds present in *Calendula* can inhibit the growth of cancer cells (112). MicroRNAs (miRNA), a small single-stranded non-coding RNA molecule, may function as tumor suppressors or oncogenes in a particular situation (113). Dysregulated miRNA has critical effects on cancer indications such as resisting cell death, activating invasion and metastasis, sustaining proliferative signalling, evading growth suppressors, and inducing angiogenesis (114). To control the rapid proliferation of cancer cells, the initiation of apoptosis or cell death is essential. Some studies showed that *BCL-2* is a crucial regulator of apoptosis, and its overexpression can promote the stability of breast cancer cells (115). On the other side, studies indicated that some miRNAs, such as miR-21, can target the *BCL-2* gene transcription and increase the MCF-7 cells apoptosis (116).



**Figure 2.11**. MCF-7 cells viability after treatment with fermented/non-fermented *Calendula*, *Malva*, and *Echinacea*.

# 2.4. Conclusion

The genomic study conducted on *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B revealed the absence of negative characteristics such as virulence genes, transmissible antibiotic gene resistance, and plasmids. Moreover, functional food preparation using three officinal plants, *Malva*, *Calendula*, and *Echinacea* fermented with *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B revealed that fermented herbs with the probiotic strain did not have any cytotoxic effect on healthy human intestinal cell line (differentiated Caco-2); however, they could reduce cell viability on breast cancer cells (MCF-7) significantly. There results from genetic analyses, together with the outcomes of the phenotypic tests, make *P. acidilactici* IRZ12B a promising probiotic candidate to be considered for its possible use in the production of novel functional foods.

# **Chapter 3**

# Effects of 2-fucosyllactose-based encapsulation on probiotic properties in *Streptococcus thermophilus*

## Abstract

*Streptococcus thermophilus* is widely used in dairy fermentation as a starter culture for yogurt and cheese production. Many strains are endowed with potential probiotic properties; however, since they might not survive in adequate amounts after transit through the human gastrointestinal tract, it is advisable to improve cell survivability during this passage. The present study evaluates the use of 2'-fucosyllactose, a prebiotic molecule from human milk, compared with other known molecules, such as gelatin and inulin, to form alginate-based microcapsules to fulfil these requirements. Such microcapsules, obtained by the extrusion technique, were evaluated in terms of encapsulation efficiency, storage stability, gastrointestinal condition resistance, and cell release kinetics. Results reveal that microcapsules made using 2'-fucosyllactose and those with inulin resulted in the most efficient structure to protect *S. thermophilus* strain TH982 under simulated gastrointestinal conditions (less than 0.45 log CFU/g decrease for both agents). In addition, a prompt and abundant release of encapsulated cells was detected after only 30 min from microcapsules made with sodium alginate plus 2'-fucosyllactose in simulated gastrointestinal fluid (more than 90% of the cells). These encouraging results represent the first report on the effects of 2'-fucosyllactose used as a co-encapsulating agent.

# **3.1. Introduction**

The genus *Streptococcus* includes more than 70 species, but to date, only *S. thermophilus* possesses the GRAS (generally recognized as safe) status due to its long history of safe application in food production (34) For this reason, this is the only species of the genus used in the food industry and represents the second most important species of industrial lactic acid bacteria (LAB) after *Lactococcus lactis* and one of the primary starters of yogurt (117, 118) .Furthermore, many *S. thermophilus* strains have several technological properties, such as sugar metabolism, galactose utilization capability, proteolytic activity, and urease activity (119).

Some strains have also shown potential as a probiotic, having revealed various health benefits (120, 121). *S. thermophilus* is a bacterium of non-human origin and, although known to be sensitive to the acidic gastric conditions, it was able to survive the gastrointestinal tract and moderately capable of adhesion to intestinal epithelial cells (122), thus making it a transient

probiotic (122, 123). Nowadays, probiotics are one of the driving forces in the design of functional foods, particularly dairy products; hence it is advisable to improve cell survivability during the gastrointestinal passage. The inclusion of probiotics into microcapsules seems to be a promising solution and also a means to control the release of cells into the target tissues (124). Several techniques are available for encapsulation, which differ on the nature of their core (content) and intended use (125). Encapsulation techniques applied to the food industry include spray-drying, fluid bed coating, spray-chilling or spray cooling, extrusion, emulsification, coacervation, co-extrusion, inclusion complexation, liposome entrapment, centrifugal extrusion, encapsulation by a rapid expansion of supercritical fluid (RESS), freeze- or vacuum drying, and nanotechnological approaches (126). The use of the extrusion technology has many advantages for the encapsulation of probiotic cells. It is a simple and inexpensive method using mild operations, and the procedure does not involve any harmful solvent. Moreover, this technique appears to promote probiotic cell viability (127–129). Combining alginate with some prebiotic molecules can also enhance cell protection in food systems (125). Prebiotics form three-dimensional microcrystal networks that interact together, forming small aggregates that contribute to the better protection of the cells (130). The most frequently used prebiotics in coencapsulation are oligosaccharides, inulin, and resistant starches (130). 2'-fucosyllactose (2'-FL), is a neutral trisaccharide composed of L-fucose, D-galactose, and D-glucose and is the most abundant oligosaccharide in human milk (HMO), accounting for about 30% of all of HMOs, i.e., 2–3 g/L (131). This prebiotic molecule has been reported to display numerous health advantages in humans (132-134) Another attractive characteristic of 2'-FL is its simplicity, which facilitates its de novo synthesis using microbial, enzymatic, or chemical methods (135). In this study, we aimed at evaluating the protective effect of 2'-FL on S. thermophilus TH982 cells, a potential probiotic with the ability to produce high levels of folate (136) compared to some other common co-encapsulating materials in alginate beads.

# 3.2. Materials and Methods

#### 3.2.1. Bacteria and growth conditions

*S. thermophilus* TH982 (137) is part of the collection of the Department of Agronomy, Food, Natural resources, Animals and Environment, University of Padova, Italy. *S. thermophilus* TH982 was stored at 80  $^{\circ}$ C in M17 broth (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MI, USA) containing glycerol (25% v/v) and was activated before each experiment by culturing it in M17 (Sigma-Aldrich) broth at 37  $^{\circ}$ C for 24 h.

#### **3.2.2. Encapsulation procedure**

The components used for encapsulation of *S. thermophilus* TH982 were sodium alginate (S, Sigma-Aldrich), gelatin (G, from bovine skin, Sigma-Aldrich), inulin (I, from chicory, Sigma-Aldrich) and 2'-fucosyllactose (F, Sigma-Aldrich). Fifty milliliters of reactivated cells in M17 broth were centrifuged (Hettich, Westphalia, Germany) at 5500 rpm for 5 min. The bacterial pellets were washed twice with sterile *saline solution* (0.85%) (Sigma-Aldrich) and added to the encapsulation matrix. The encapsulating matrix was prepared using the extrusion technique through the combination of sodium alginate with either inulin, gelatin, or 2'-fucosyllactose, each one at a concentration of 2% (*w*/*v*). Sodium alginate alone was also used as a control. The different matrices were mixed and added to the *S. thermophilus* TH982 pellet suspension.

The mixture was then injected using a sterile syringe with a 450  $\mu$ m needle into sterile 0.3 M CaCl<sub>2</sub> (Sigma-Aldrich) hardener solution. The distance from the bottom of the nozzle and the surface of the CaCl<sub>2</sub> solution was kept at 10 cm (Figure3.1). The microcapsules were left in the hardening solution (CaCl<sub>2</sub>) for 30 min at room temperature. Finally, capsules were transferred in 0.1% (*w*/*v*) sterile peptone water solution and stored at 4 °C until further use. The morphology of the microcapsules was examined using an optical stereomicroscope (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan).



Figure 3.1. Scheme of microencapsulation procedure of *S. thermophilus* TH982 cells using the extrusion technique. (A) The sodium alginate alone as control. (B) Sodium alginate with other agents.

#### 3.2.3. Encapsulation Efficiency

One milliliter of each type of capsule solution was added to 9 mL of *saline solution* (0.85%), serially diluted, and plated on M17 agar medium to determine the viable cell concentration in capsule solutions. One gram of each type of capsule was homogenized in 9 mL of 10% (w/v) sterilized sodium citrate by vortexing for 1 min, serially diluted, and plated on M17 to get the number of entrapped cells per g of capsule. The enumeration of viable cells from both the solution and the capsule was done using the micro drop technique by placing 20 µL aliquots on the surface of M17 agar plates and incubating at 37 °C for 48 h. The encapsulation efficiency (EE%) was determined using the equation (138)

$$EE\% = (N_1/N_0) \times 100$$

where  $N_1$  is the number of viable entrapped cells (log CFU/g) released after the encapsulation procedure and  $N_0$  is the number of viable cells (log CFU/mL) added to the mixture before encapsulation.

#### **3.2.4.** Storage stability in skimmed milk

One gram of microcapsules was suspended in 9 mL of 10% (w/v) reconstituted skimmed milk, stored under refrigerated conditions (4 °C) and sampled at different time intervals, namely after 0, 7, 14 and 21 days to evaluate the survival of encapsulated *S. thermophilus* TH982 (139).The survival of free (non-encapsulated) bacterial cells was determined by adding 9 mL of 10% (w/v) reconstituted skimmed milk (Sigma-Aldrich) to 1 mL of free cells as well. At each time interval, 1 g aliquot of capsules was aseptically centrifuged at 5500 rpm for 5 min. The supernatant was discarded and the cells were allowed to release in 9 mL of 10% (w/v) sodium citrate by vortexing for 1 min, serially diluted, and plated on M17 agar, followed by incubation at 37 °C for 48 h. The survival was determined as the number of cells recovered during different storage time intervals with respect to the number of initial entrapped cells.

#### 3.2.5. Survivability under simulated gastrointestinal conditions

The simulated gastrointestinal conditions were obtained using basic fluid, gastric fluid, and intestinal fluid. The basic fluid was prepared by dissolving (per liter): 1.12 g potassium chloride (Sigma-Aldrich), 2.0 g sodium chloride (Sigma-Aldrich), 0.11 g calcium chloride (Sigma-Aldrich), and 0.4 g potassium dihydrogen phosphate (Sigma-Aldrich) in saline solution (0.85%). The basic fluid was sterilized by autoclaving at 121 °C for 15 min. The simulated gastric fluid (SGJ) and simulated intestinal fluid (SIJ) were prepared based on a modified method published by Singh et al. (139). The gastric fluid consisted of 0.01 g/L of swine pepsin (Sigma-Aldrich) and 0.01 g/L of swine mucin (Sigma-Aldrich) added directly to the sterile basic juice. The pH was adjusted to 2.5 with 1 N HCl, and the liquid was filtersterilized using a 0.22 µm membrane filter (Sigma-Aldrich). The intestinal fluid contained (per liter of basic fluid): 0.01 g pancreatin (Sigma- Aldrich), 0.08 g Ox-bile extract (Sigma-Aldrich), and 0.01 g lysozyme (Sigma-Aldrich). The pH was adjusted to 7.5 with 1 N NaOH, and the juice was filter sterilized. Both gastric and intestinal fluids were prepared fresh on the day of the experiment. Overnight bacterial cultures were obtained after subculturing in M17 broth, and capsules were prepared as described in the encapsulation procedure. One gram of each type of capsule was added to 9 mL of SGJ and incubated at 37 °C for 1 h

to evaluate the survivability of *S. thermophilus* TH982 under gastric conditions. For the survival of *S. thermophilus* TH982 under gastrointestinal conditions, 9 mL of SIJ were added following gastric fluid incubation, and the capsules and free cells with simulated gastrointestinal fluid were left at 37 °C for a further 2 h. The cell viability was evaluated for free and encapsulated *S. thermophilus* after gastric and gastrointestinal incubations by plating on M17 agar and using the micro drop technique, followed by incubation at 37 °C for 48 h.

#### **3.2.6. Release kinetics**

The release kinetics from capsules were determined using phosphate solution without enzymes. The release of encapsulated *S. thermophilus* TH982 into the medium was evaluated according to Shi et al. (140) with some modifications. A phosphate solution (6.8 g/L of K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 50 mM) without the addition of intestinal enzymes was prepared, the pH was adjusted to 7.5 with 1 N HCl and subsequently sterilized by autoclaving at 121 °C for 15 min. Microcapsules (1 g) from different matrices were added to 9 mL of the abovementioned phosphate solution and incubated at 37 °C with agitation (100 rpm). At predetermined time intervals (0, 30, 60, 90, 120, 150, and 180 min), 100  $\mu$ L of solution were taken from each capsule type, serially diluted, and plated using the micro drop technique on M17 agar to detect the number of released cells. The number of released cells was determined after 48 h of incubation at 37 °C and expressed as log CFU/mL of K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> solution.

#### 3.2.7. Statistical analysis

All the experiments were performed in triplicate. Data were analyzed using a one- way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Tukey's test was used as a post-hoc analysis by the GraphPad Prism software (version 7, GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). Results were considered significantly different for p values lower than 0.05.

## 3.3. Results and Discussion

#### **3.3.1.** Morphology and encapsulation efficiency

All capsules appeared globular and irregular in shape with a rough surface and a drop-like shape. This result is probably due to the high surface tension of the used hardening solution (CaCl<sub>2</sub>) that determines an imperfect sphere formation (141) .However, no surface cavities or fractures were visible. The average size of capsules was 3.5 0.52 (mm) without any significant difference among the different microcapsules types. The capsules with S + G showed a more dense structure, as confirmed by the viscosity of G solution, due to electrostatic interactions between amino groups of G and carboxyl groups of S, which make cells more resistant to enzymatic and acidic hydrolysis (142). Encapsulation efficiencies (EE%) of the four microcapsule types are reported in Table 1. EE% is a parameter that describes both the survival of viable cells and the efficacy of entrapment of the encapsulation procedure (143) . The yield of S. thermophilus TH982 viable cells co-encapsulated using S + F (96.13%) was significantly higher (p < 0.01) than that of cells encapsulated with S alone (91.07%), used as control, and was similar (not statistically different) to S + I (98.61%). The high EE% obtained with S + F and S + I matrices might be due to the decrease in the porosity of the gel-beads and, consequently, to a reduction in the leakage of entrapped S. thermophilus TH982 cells (144). Besides, incorporating prebiotics as material for encapsulation may better protect probiotics in food systems and inside the gastrointestinal tract due to mutual cells/prebiotic interactions (145) .By contrast, the number of viable cells encapsulated in S alone and S + G showed no significant difference (EE% 91.07 and 90.50, respectively). The main reason why EE% is normally lower than 100% is linked to cell damage due to detrimental conditions caused by the encapsulation process itself, such as shear stress and the use of concentrated solutions. Furthermore, during the time required for the hardening of capsules, a physical loss of cells can occur in significant numbers (143) It should also be noted that a dissolution process is required to determine the number of viable cells in the microcapsules, and therefore an incomplete disintegration can underestimate the calculated EE% value. In particular, for the solubilization of S-based capsules, sodium citrate (10% w/v) was used, which is a chelating agent (144) that can remove calcium from the "egg-box" structure, leading to the destabilization of alginate coating and to the effective release of cells (146)

Capsule formulation	Encapsulation solution	After encapsulation	Encapsulation efficiency	
	(log CFU/ml)	(log CFU/g)	(EE%)	
S	9.46±0.04	8.61±0.19	91.07 <sup>a</sup>	
S+I	9.17±0.21	9.04±0.12	98.61 <sup>b</sup>	
S+G	9.39±0.09	8.50±0.04	90.50 <sup>a</sup>	
S+F	9.34±0.03	8.97±0.07	96.13 <sup>b</sup>	

**Table 3.1.** Encapsulation efficiency (EE%) of S. thermophilus TH982 using the different encapsulating matrices. Values are the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) of triplicate experiments (n=3).

<sup>a, b</sup> indicates statistically significant (P <0.05) differences between different formulations.

#### **3.3.2.** Storage stability in skimmed milk

In order to test the viability of S. thermophilus cells inside capsules during prolonged storage, we maintained them in skimmed milk at refrigeration conditions (4 °C) for 21 days (Figure 3.2). At the end of the period, cell viability showed 0.46, 1.62, 1.79, and 1.97 log decrease for *S. thermophilus* TH982 cells encapsulated with S + G, S + F, S, and S + I, respectively. Capsules containing G as a co-encapsulating agent showed a better performance after 21 days with respect to other co-encapsulating agents. However, data show that free cells had the highest viability level throughout the storage period since there was no significant difference between initial (8.90 0.08 log CFU/mL; day0) and final (8.94 0.05 log CFU/mL; day21) values. Interestingly, S, S + I, and S + F capsules revealed a similar, not significantly different, viability reduction (p < 0.05), differently from some studies that indicate an increase in survivability during refrigerated storage conditions, which could be linked to the difference in species/strain used. S. thermophilus is frequently used in the production of many dairy products, and it is highly adapted to the dairy environment. It was reported that encapsulation improved the stability of L. plantarum during storage (147), and encapsulation of bacteria in alginate was found to improve survivability when compared to unprotected cell counts stored in skimmed milk for 24 h (129). Since FAO and the International Dairy Federation (IDF) recommend that the minimum content of probiotic cells should be  $10^7$  CFU/g of product at the time of consumption (148), the four encapsulating agents used in this study

were efficient in maintaining the required viability of *S. thermophilus* TH982 after refrigerated storage in skimmed milk. The high numbers suggested by IDF have been proposed to compensate for the possible numerical reduction of probiotic organisms during passage through the human stomach and intestine. Cells must remain viable throughout the projected shelf-life period of a product so that when consumed, the product contains a sufficient number of viable cells.



Figure 3.2. Survivability of encapsulated and free *S. thermophilus* TH982 cells during 21 days of storage in skimmed milk at 4 °C.

The viability of probiotic bacteria in food products is affected by many intrinsic and extrinsic aspects such as dissolved oxygen and oxygen permeation through the package, post acidification in fermented products (lactic and acetic acids), pH, storage and incubation temperature, duration of fermentation, production of hydrogen peroxide due to bacterial metabolism, and processing conditions (149, 150). Moreover, the specific strains used, the

interaction between species, availability of nutrients, and growth promoters and inhibitors can affect cells survivability.

The great survivability of free *S. thermophilus* TH982 cells in skimmed milk is probably due to the fact that *S. thermophilus* is a species highly adapted to grow on lactose as its energy and carbon source, that is internalized by the lactose permease (LacS) and hydrolyzed to glucose and galactose by  $\beta$ -galactosidase (LacZ) (151). It is likely that the entrapment of *S. thermophilus* TH982 cells into capsules of different matrices probably led to a reduced diffusion of lactose inside the capsule layer or membrane, limiting the possibility of its use by the entrapped cells (149).

#### 3.3.3. Survivability under simulated gastrointestinal conditions

The survival of probiotics under gastrointestinal conditions represents a significant issue for their effectiveness, and microencapsulation could represent a valid method to provide significant protection .The survival of free and encapsulated *S. thermophilus* TH982 cells after 1, 2 and 3 h of incubation in simulated gastrointestinal conditions are presented in Figure 3.3. After 1 h of gastric fluid incubation, the highest reduction of viable cells was found, as expected, for free *S. thermophilus* TH982, as the initial number of  $10.40 \pm 0.10$  log CFU/mL was diminished by 0.95 log CFU/mL. A notable decrease in viability after 3 h of gastrointestinal conditions was confirmed for free *S. thermophilus* TH982 cells, reduced by approximately 1.60-log CFU/mL, dropping to  $8.79 \pm 0.02$  log CFU/mL. By contrast, for cells encapsulated with S alone, only 1.05 log CFU/g reduction of viable cells was observed, implying that microencapsulation provided protection compared to the free cells. This protection offered by sodium alginate might be related to the establishment of a hydrogel barrier through an external layer of sodium alginate that has retarded the permeation of simulated fluids into the capsules and thus the interaction with the probiotic cells (152).



**Figure 3.3.** Survivability of encapsulated and free *S. thermophilus* TH982 cells during exposure to simulated gastrointestinal conditions. Different letters indicate significant differences within the same incubation step (p < 0.05) among different encapsulating matrix types.

S + G capsules showed low survivability during gastric environment transit; indeed, the reduction of viable cells was higher (0.52 log CFU/g decrease) than encapsulated cells with S + I (no reduction detected) after 1 h of gastric condition (pH 2.5). This fact might be due to a variation of pH, which changes the gelatin charge of amino and carboxyl groups so that the modification of cross-links and structure of the chain could influence the swelling behavior of gelatin capsules (153)

On the other side, an interesting outcome was given by the two types of prebiotics used as a coencapsulating agent with sodium alginate. After 3 h of exposure to gastrointestinal conditions, S + I and S + F revealed the highest cell survivability without any significant difference, leading to a low cell reduction (less than 0.45 log CFU/g decrease for both agents). Prebiotics, such as 2'-FL and inulin, which could provide good protection and even promote cell proliferation, appeared to contribute to the growth of *S. thermophilus* TH982. In addition, oligosaccharides are difficult to decompose by enzymes in digestive fluid but can be metabolized by beneficial bacteria in the colon (144). It has been further demonstrated that oligosaccharides contained in human milk have an extraordinary resistance to hydrolysis by digestive enzymes of the small intestine(154) .The combination of calcium alginate with prebiotics such as inulin improves the viability of probiotics and facilitates the formation of an integrated structure of capsules. Researchers found better protection of *Lactobacillus casei* and *Bifidobacterium bifidum* cells in coated capsules with prebiotics such as inulin after the gastrointestinal transit. The addition of prebiotics could be synergistic in gelling, and as a result, may help to maintain and improve the degree of protection of the bacterial cells (155).

Lastly, the free cell suffered more from the gastric conditions than that during the 3-h gastrointestinal transition. In contrast, encapsulated bacteria evidenced greater reductions during gastrointestinal transit than under gastric conditions alone. This behavior may be due to the fact that alginate is stable in low-pH solutions: the ionotropic alginate gel formed by  $Ca^{2+}$  cross-linking of carboxylate groups is insoluble at low pH, but exposure to neutral pH or higher solubilize the alginate, causing swelling (156).

#### **3.3.4. Release kinetics**

The release of encapsulated *S. thermophilus* TH982 after incubation in simulated intestinal fluid was evaluated after 30, 60, 90, 120, 150 and 180 min, as reported in Figure 3.4. After 30 min of agitation at 100 rpm at 37 °C in 50 mM K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, a great release of cells encapsulated with S + F was detected. Considering the initial number of cells entrapped in this type of capsules (9.73  $\pm$  0.04 log CFU/g of capsules), the number of cells released in the simulated intestinal fluid after 30 min was 8.83  $\pm$  0.04 log CFU/mL of K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, representing a very high value compared with the other types of encapsulating matrices after 180 min, which resulted about 2-log lower. This result confirms what was visible during the experiment: after 30 min, there was an evident solubilization of S + F capsules, a characteristic not displayed by the others (S, S + I, and S + G). Moreover, the number of

released cells suggests that once liberated, *S. thermophilus* TH982 can withstand well simulated intestinal conditions, since after 180 min the number of cells released from S + F capsules was  $9.72 \pm 0.05 \log \text{CFU/mL}$ , which means 99.89% of the initial entrapped cells.



**Figure 3.4.** Release kinetics of entrapped *S. thermophilus* TH982 cells from different capsule formulations during incubation in a simulated intestinal environment.

It is essential to ensure that the capsules give protection through the simulated gastrointestinal passage and ensure that the encapsulation matrix allows a release of viable and metabolically active cells into the intestine (144, 157). The release of the cells from microcapsules in the colon is essential for the growth and possible colonization of probiotics (144, 158). In the absence of this property, the entrapped organisms and the capsules will be washed out from the body without exerting a significant beneficial effect (159). Many studies investigated the release of encapsulated probiotics in simulated intestinal fluid; however, to the best of our knowledge,  $\pm$  there is no similar outcome from any encapsulating agent reported in the literature to date (139, 144, 157). Sabikhi et al. (159) reported the release of encapsulated *L. acidophilus* in alginate-

starch microspheres using a simulated colonic fluid with the same formulation. They found that the cell count after 150 min of incubation was 7.45 log CFU/mL, suggesting that all the microencapsulated cells were released at that time (initial number of 7.47 log CFU/g of capsule). Although 150 min is about the time needed for intestinal transit of microcapsules, they did not find a significant release after 30 min (159). In another study, a fully released *L. plantarum* encapsulated with sodium alginate and sodium alginate with inulin in a 60-min exposure to simulated intestinal fluid was reported. From the results, it was concluded that the release mechanism was probably due to the replacing of calcium ions in the encapsulation matrices. Also, capsules with inulin showed a faster release rate during the first 20 min, which could have been induced by the addition of inulin in sodium alginate affecting the binding of calcium ion (147).

A possible mechanism that could be involved in the fast release of *S. thermophilus* TH982 cells encapsulated with sodium alginate and 2'-fucosyllactose could be that this small soluble milk glycan used as a co-encapsulating agent in this experiment is formed by fucose linked to the two positions of  $\beta$ -Gal residues of lactose; hence no electrostatic repulsions may occur with the negatively charged carboxyl groups of sodium alginate structure. Therefore, the complete release of the cells is probably due to the vigorous interaction of the prebiotic structure with the divalent cations (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) of the sodium alginate network, resulting in disintegration of the "egg-box" structure in K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>. This process is well known and recognized to explain the inulin capsules releasing behavior in simulated intestinal fluid, a prebiotic commonly used as encapsulating material (147).

# **3.4.** Conclusion

This study represents the first report among the available literature on the use of 2'fucosyllactose, a trisaccharide from human milk, used as a prebiotic agent in microencapsulation of *S. thermophilus* cells. The alginate-based microcapsules showed interesting features, including good capability to protect bacterial cells from harsh simulated gastrointestinal conditions. Compared to other molecules used in microencapsulation together with alginate, such as gelatin and inulin, 2'-fucosyllactose evidenced an extremely quick (30 min) and abundant release of bacterial cells from the capsules inside a simulated intestinal fluid. These results encourage to devise further studies aimed at testing these properties under in *vivo* conditions.

# Chapter 4

Exopolysaccharide producing *Limosilactobacillus fermentum* ING8, a potential multifunctional starter strain with relevant technological properties and antimicrobial activity

## Abstract

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) have gained particular attention among different exopolysaccharideproducing microorganisms due to their safety status and effects on human health and food production. Exopolysaccharide-producing LAB play a crucial role in different ways, such as improving texture, mouthfeel, controlling viscosity, and for low-calorie food production. In this study, we isolated a multifunctional strain with good exopolysaccharide production properties. Limosilactobacillus fermentum ING8 was isolated from an Indian traditional fermented milk and evaluated for its safety, enzymatic activity, NaCl resistance and temperature tolerance, milk coagulation and storage stability. Finally, the complete genome of this strain has been sequenced and subjected to safety in silico evaluation and genomic analysis. The results reveal that L. fermentum ING8 possesses relevant technological properties, such as exopolysaccharide production, antimicrobial activity, and galactose utilization. Besides, this strain has shown very high stability to storage conditions at refrigeration temperature. In addition, the genomic analysis did not evidence any possible deleterious elements, such as acquired antibiotic resistance genes, virulence genes, or hemolytic-related genes. However, all structural genes related to the galactose operon and EPS production have been detected. Therefore, L. fermentum ING8 can be considered a promising multifunctional bacterium to be proposed as co-starter in different types of dairy productions.

# 4.1. Introduction

"*Dahi*", that means curd, is an Indian traditional fermented milk prepared from either cow, buffalo or goat milk, and it is considered one of the oldest consumed dairy products in India, Pakistan, Nepal, and Bangladesh (160). Due to the unknown composition of microbial starter cultures and the uncontrolled fermentation procedures, traditional fermented foods can have wide variability in their microbiological, nutritional, and functional properties (161). The *Dahi* made from buffalo milk is usually more acidic and contains a higher amount of protein, calcium, fat, and lactose, providing more energy than that made from cow milk (162). In addition, it is enriched with iron, phosphorus, vitamin A and natural antioxidants, while the cholesterol content is comparatively lower than cow milk (163). *Limosilactobacillus fermentum* is a Lactic Acid Bacterium (LAB), Gram-positive, non-spore forming, rod-shaped that produces organic acid

from the fermentation of carbohydrates (164). *L. fermentum* can also inhibit the growth of foodborne pathogens in food products (165) and it possesses the "generally recognized as safe" (GRAS), (166). Foods obtained from fermentation by *L. fermentum* usually possess palatability, high sensory quality, texture, stability and nutritional properties (167).

The main technological aspect which defines LAB is their capability to produce lactic acid by fermenting different sugars (168, 169). Among carbohydrates, galactose accumulation in dairy products following lactose fermentation, is problematic and challenging. The accumulation of galactose can cause a browning effect on heat-treated cheeses such as Asiago, Parmigiano Reggiano, and Grana Padano in different foods and can damage their appearance (170, 171). In addition, galactose accumulation in dairy products can lead to toxic effects on people suffering from galactosemia (172). Therefore, the use of starter cultures capable of utilizing galactose could be advantageous for the dairy industry. In addition to the production of lactic acid, LAB are used in the food industry for other relevant properties, such as their proteolytic and lipolytic activity, ability to synthesize a wide range of compounds such as organic acids, peptides, antimicrobial agents, aromatic compounds by the metabolism of citrate, and production of exopolysaccharides (EPS) (173). EPS play a crucial role in food production by improving texture in low-calories food products and in dietary fibers products (174, 175). In addition, they can be useful to the human health by providing beneficial effects such as cholesterol-lowering activity and immune-stimulating properties (176).

In this study, *Dahi* samples made from buffalo milk were collected from different household markets in India. The safety and technological properties of the newly isolated LAB strains were investigated by phenotypical approaches. Finally, the complete genome of the promising strain *L. fermentum* ING8 as a strong lactose/galactose utilizer with good EPS production was sequenced for further *in silico* evaluation and genomic analysis.

# 4.2. Material and Methods

#### 4.2.1. Sample collection and isolation of new LAB strains

*Dahi* samples were collected from different villages of the Gadwal District Telangana state (India) during summer 2018. All samples were trasferred into sterile plastic tubes and stored at 4°C. For LAB strains isolation of LAB, 10 g of each sample were homogenized with 90 mL of sterile phosphate-buffered saline (PBS; NaCl 8.0 g/L, KCl 0.2 g/L, Na<sub>2</sub>HPO4 1.44 g/L, KH<sub>2</sub>PO4

0.24 g/L, pH 7.4). Then, decimal dilutions of the solution was prepared to up to  $10^{-9}$  and all were inoculated on MRS (De Man Rogosa Sharp, Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO, USA) agar using the pour plate method. Plates were incubated in anaerobic jars at 30°C for 72 h. Finally, one representative colony was taken from each sample, unless different colony morphology were detected. All the isolates were examined for preliminary phenotypical tests, i.e. Gram staining, microscopic morphology, catalase and oxidase. The stock cultures were prepared in MRS broth inoculated with 25% (v/v) glycerol and kept at -80 °C until further use.

#### 4.2.2. DNA extraction and RAPD-PCR analysis

DNA extraction was done using a bacterial lysate protocol according to Tarrah *et al.* (55) with slight modifications. Briefly, 5 mL of overnight bacterial cultures were washed 2 times with sterilized PBS and added to 50  $\mu$ l of lysis buffer (NaOH 0.05 M + SDS 0.25%). This solution was vortexed for 2 min and then incubated at 94 °C for 15 min in a thermal cycler (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). Finally, the supernatant was collected by centrifugation at 13,000g for 10 min and diluted at 1:100 in ultrapure sterile water. The RAPD-PCR analysis was performed using primer M13 (5' GAGGGTGGCGGTTCT 3') according to the protocol by Andrighetto *et al.* (56). RAPD-PCR profiles were analyzed using the software package Gel Compare Version 4.1 (Applied Maths, Kortrijk, Belgium) based on the Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient.

#### 4.2.3. Lactose/galactose utilizers selection

Ten mL of overnight bacterial cultures were centrifuged at 5,000 rpm for 10min; the pellets were washed twice using 5 mL of PBS and resuspended in 5 ml of the same solution. Lactose and galactose (Sigma-Aldrich) solutions (10% w/v) were prepared separately, filtered using 0.22  $\mu$ m filters and added to MRS glucose-free medium to a final concentration of 1%. Finally, the media (MRS+1% lactose/ MRS+1% galactose) were inoculated with 10<sup>6</sup> CFU/mL of overnight bacterial cultures and incubated at 37 °C for 24 h using 96-well microtiter plates (sigma SIAL0596, MO, USA) and a Tecan incubator/reader (spark 10M, Tecan GmbH, Grödig. Austria).

The optical density was measured for both lactose and galactose by reading the absorbance at 600 nm (OD600) every 30 min for 24 h. Blank and negative controls were inserted as well. The experiment was done using two biological and four technical replicates.

#### 4.2.4. Exopolysaccharide production and quantification

Overnight bacterial cultures were streaked on a modified MRS agar medium containing 10% sucrose and incubated at 30°C for 3 days to allow EPS production. Strains generating slimy colonies were considered EPS producers (177). EPS producer strains on MRS agar were selected for EPS quantification using MRS broth containing 10% sucrose. An overnight culture (1%) was used to inoculate MRS broth containing 10% sucrose and incubated at 30°C for 3 days. Then the supernatant was collected by centrifugation at 5500 rpm for 20 min, and EPS was precipitated by using five volumes of cold 96% ethanol (Sigma-Aldrich) and incubating for 24 h. Finally, the EPS were collected by centrifugation at 4°C (5500 rpm for 20 min), dried at 60°C overnight, and the weight recorded (178). The experiment was done using two biological and three technical replicates.

#### 4.2.5. Antimicrobial activity determination

Ten  $\mu$ L of 24 h cultures were placed on two MRS agar plates and incubated overnight. After the incubation, in one of the plates, 2  $\mu$ L of proteinase K solution (20 mg/mL, pH 8) were spotted close to the bacterial growth to determine the production of bacteriocin compounds and incubated for 1h. Successively, a lawn of 4 mL of BHI soft agar (Sigma-Aldrich) containing 400  $\mu$ L of an overnight culture of indicator strains, namely *Listeria monocytogenes* ATCC 19117, *Bacillus cereus* ATCC 11778, *Escherichia coli* APEC 18042/2 was poured on the top of the existing solid medium and plates were further incubated at 37°C for 24 h. After incubation, plates were inspected for zones of indicator strains growth inhibition surrounding the colonies. The presence of inhibition haloes in the MRS plate and the absence of haloes for the same strain in the protease-containing plate indicate the proteinaceous origin of the antimicrobial compound (64).
### 4.2.6. Safety assessments of *L. fermentum* ING8

### 4.2.6.1. Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC)

The MIC test was performed in 96-well microtiter plates according to the broth microdilution method proposed by Wiegand et al. (61). The following antibiotics were chosen, according to the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) recommendation: vancomycin, kanamycin, ampicillin, tetracycline, erythromycin, chloramphenicol, streptomycin, gentamicin and ciprofloxacin. The antibiotics were dissolved in MRS plus ISO-Sensitest (Sigma-Aldrich) broth in 1:9 ratio, serially diluted in 96-microtiter plates and further inoculated with bacterial cells (5×105 CFU/mL). The test was performed in 3 replicates, and the MIC value was considered the concentration present in the first well with no visible growth.

### 4.2.6.2. Hemolytic activity test

Twenty  $\mu$ L of overnight cultures were spotted on MRS plates containing 5% (w/v) sheep blood (Thermo Fisher Scientific, United States) and incubated at 37 °C for 48 h. Hemolytic activity was determined by a clear halo surrounding the colonies (62). *Staphylococcus aureus* ATCC 6538 and *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG were included as positive and negative controls, respectively.

## 4.2.7. Technological characterization of L. fermentum ING8

### 4.2.7.1. Enzymatic activities

The amylolytic activity was determined using a two-step procedure by first culturing the strain ING8 in a modified MRS broth (MRS with 0.25% starch instead of glucose), incubated at 37 °C for 24 h. Subsequently, 10  $\mu$ l of the cultured bacteria were spotted on a medium containing 0.5% meat peptone, 0.7% yeast extract, 0.2% NaCl, 2% starch and 1.5% agar (Sigma-Aldrich) on plates incubated anaerobically at 37 °C for 48 h. The amylolytic activity was determined by detecting clear zones around the colonies after staining with Lugol solution.

The lipolytic activity was evaluated using a two-step procedure by culturing the bacteria in a modified MRS medium containing 1% olive oil and 1% Arabic gum, and incubating at 37 °C for 24 h. Successively, 10  $\mu$ l of subcultured bacteria were spotted on a medium containing 0.1% tryptone, 0.5% yeast extract, 0.05% NaCl, 0.1, 0.5, or 1% olive oil, 1% Arabic gum, and 1.5%

agar (Sigma-Aldrich) and the plates were incubated anaerobically at 37 °C for 48 h. The lipolytic activity was evaluated by the detection of a clear zone around the colonies.

Regarding the proteolytic activity, the bacterial strain was cultured in MRS broth incubated anaerobically at 37 °C for 24 h. After incubation,  $30\mu$ L of the supernatant were collected and spotted on a sterile paper disc, later placed over a medium containing 1% skim milk and 1.5% agar. Then plates were incubated anaerobically for 48 h at 37 °C. The clear zone around each disc was measured with a caliper to determine the level of proteolytic activity (179).

#### 4.2.7.2. NaCl tolerance test

Strain ING8 was subcultured in MRS medium incubated at 37 °C for 24 h. After centrifugation, the pellet was washed two times with PBS and transferred to MRS supplemented with 2, 6 and 10% (w/v) NaCl, and incubated at 37 °C for 24 h. The growth ability was checked by reading the optical density (OD600nm) using 96-well microtiter plates (Sigma-Aldrich) and Tecan reader (Tecan-Magellan) (177). The experiment was done using two biological and three technical replicates.

#### 4.2.7.3. Growth at different temperatures

The ability of bacterial growth at different temperatures was done using the protocol published by Ribeiro *et al.* with slight modification (177). Strain ING8 was cultured in MRS broth medium incubated at 30 °C, 37 °C, 45 °C, and 50 °C respectively for a period of 24 h. The growth was checked by reading the optical density (OD600nm) using 96-well microtiter plates (Sigma-Aldrich) and a Tecan reader (Tecan-Magellan). The experiment was done using two biological and three technical replicates.

#### 4.2.7.4. Acidification and milk coagulation

The acidification and milk coagulation capability of strain ING8 were evaluated using a modified protocol by Shangpliang *et al.* (160). Briefly, the overnight culture of ING8 was centrifuged, the pellet washed two times using sterile PBS and resuspended in 5 mL of the same buffer. Later, 100  $\mu$ L of this solution were used to inoculate 10 mL sterile of skimmed milk (10%) incubated at 30 °C. The pH value and coagulation status were determined after 3, 6 and 24 h. The experiment was done using two biological and three technical replicates.

#### 4.2.7.5. Viability during storage

An overnight culture of ING8 was centrifuged, the pellet washed two times using sterile PBS, resuspended in 10 mL sterile skimmed milk (10%) and stored at 4 °C for 0, 7, 14, and 21 days (180). At each time interval, an aliquot was taken, serially diluted, and plated on MRS agar to enumerate viable bacteria. The experiment was done using three technical replicates.

### 4.2.8. Genome sequencing, assembly, and annotation of *L. fermentum* ING8

According to the manufacturer's instructions, genomic DNA from strain ING8 was extracted using the DNeasy PowerSoil Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). The quality of the extracted DNA was checked spectrophotometrically (Spark 10M, Tecan). The genome sequencing was done using the paired-end sequencing technology with an Illumina MiSeq sequencer (Ramaciotti Centre for Genomics, Sydney, Australia). A Unicycler assembler was used to assemble the raw reads by using the PATRIC database server 3.6.12, setting the parameters on default (65).

The prediction and annotation of the assembled genome were carried out using the Rapid Annotation using Subsystems Technology (RAST) (66), and the graphical genome map of L. *fermentum* ING8 was constructed using *the* CGView (Circular Genome Viewer) (181) after scaffolding the assembled contigs using the medusa webserver (67) and the type strain L. *fermentum strain* DSM 20052 as the reference genome.

Genome stability and safety were assessed by studying the presence of virulence genes, plasmids and acquired antibiotic resistance genes within the genome of *L. fermentum* ING8 by using IslandViewer4, PlasmidFinder 2.0, and ResFinder 3.2 servers (71, 182, 183).

## 4.2.9. Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) using GraphPad Prism software (version 7, GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA).

# 4.3. Results and discussion

### **4.3.1.** Strains isolation and RAPD-PCR analysis

Isolates from ten different colonies (ING1, ING2, ING3A, ING3B, ING4, ING5, ING6, ING7A, ING7B, ING8) were collected from MRS agar plates considering colony morphology. One

colony was taken from each plate unless different morphologies were observed on the same plate. All isolates were rod-shaped, Gram-positive, catalase-negative, and oxidase-negative. A RAPD-PCR analysis was performed to compare the isolates based on their electrophoretic profiles (Figure 1). According to the UPGMA analysis performed by Gel Compare software, isolates ING7B with ING8 and ING4 with ING5 showed highly similar profiles.



Figure 1. Cluster analysis of RAPD-PCR fingerprints of the isolates.

# 4.3.2. Lactose and galactose utilization

All tested strains could grow on a medium containing lactose, except strain ING4, which revealed a poor growth after incubation (OD600 = 0.2 was considered the growth threshold based on negative controls), whereas isolates ING7B and ING8 showed excellent growth

compared with the other strains (Figure 2-A). On the other side, all bacteria failed to grow on MRS medium containing galactose as the sole energy source except for ING7B and ING8 that revealed a very good capability to utilize galactose (Figure 2-B). Interestingly, isolates ING7B and ING8 overlapped entirely in galactose and lactose utilization dynamics, confirming the very high similarity detected by RAPD-PCR analysis, while ING4 and ING 5, that also showed very similar profiles, behaved very differently on lactose. For this reason, isolate ING7B was not considered for further studies. On the other side, carbohydrates, in general, are the primary energy source for fermentation and acidification by LAB. For the transport within the cell, different systems exist in bacteria. The main system is the PTS (Phospho Transferase System) but there is an alternative pathway for galactose. When galactose is imported into the cell by a specific permease, it uses the Leloir pathway to produce lactic acid as the final product. In galactose-positive strains, this sugar is metabolized by the Leloir pathway, which includes four different enzymes, namely galactose mutarotase (GalM), galactokinase (GalK), galactose-1phosphate uridylyltransferase (GalT), and UDP-glucose 4-epimerase (GalE) (118). However, most LAB strains are galactose negative due to the weak induction of gal operon. Galactose accumulation in many kinds of cheese such as Asiago, Parmigiano Reggiano, Swiss, and Grana has been reported and resulted in discoloration and browning negative effects (170, 171).

Galactose accumulation can also be life-threatening due to the toxic effects on people suffering from galactosemia, a genetic disorder in humans (172). Therefore, galactose-positive strains can be useful for reducing such technological and health problems. In Parmigiano Reggiano and Grana Padano cheese production, 10-20% of *L. fermentum* is used as starter culture along with *Streptococcus thermophilus* and thermophilic lactobacilli (184). The availability of *L. fermentum* strains with a high level of galactose utilization and able to survive during prolonged storage periods, can be beneficial since the problems mentioned above can frequently happen in long ripened cheeses.



Figure 2. Growth curves of strains on lactose and galactose.

### 4.3.3. Exopolysaccharide production

Among all the strains examined for EPS production, ING8 was the only one producing sticky colonies (4 mm diameter) after 3 days at 30°C using on MRS agar containing 10% sucrose. The quantification of EPS resulted in 400±18 mg/L. LAB have gained particular attention among different EPS producing microbes due to their application in the food industry and related health issues. This group of bacteria plays a crucial role in food production in different ways by controlling viscosity, improving texture, improving mouthfeel, freeze-thaw stability, being used in low-calorie food products, dietary fibers products, and so on (174, 175). On the other hand, LAB can be helpful to human health by providing some beneficial effects such as anti-cancer, anti-ulcer, antioxidant potential, cholesterol-lowering activity, and immune-stimulating properties (176). *L. fermentum* strains are used in various food products to increase their preservation, sensory characteristics, nutritional value, and other properties (167). This species is also naturally present in diverse cheeses due to its technological properties, such as exopolysaccharide production, to improve textural and organoleptic properties (167, 184). EPS producing bacteria can also reduce syneresis of fermented milks due to the water-holding properties of EPS, which can lead to a higher quality of low-fat dairy products (167). Many

studies have been conducted on the identification of EPS producing LAB from dairy environments due to its importance in food production (185). The amount of EPS produced by LAB is strain-dependent (185). In a study by Fukuda *et al.* (186), *L. fermentum* TDS030603 was found to produce a highly viscous EPS molecule with a yield of 100 mg/L. In another study reported by Wei *et al.* (187), the EPS amount produced by *L. fermentum* YL-11 was estimated at around 84.5 mg/L, and it indicated cytotoxic activity against HT-29 and Caco-2 colon related carcinogenic cells.

### 4.3.4. Antimicrobial activity determination

All the strains were tested for antimicrobial activity against food-borne pathogenic bacteria. Among all, only strain ING8 produced a growth inhibition zone greater than 31 mm against *Listeria monocytogenes* ATCC 19117, *Bacillus cereus* ATCC 11778, and *Escherichia coli* APEC 18042/2 (Table 1). Indeed, the same haloes were also detected in the plates added with proteinase K, indicating the non-proteinaceous nature of such inhibitory activity.

According to the results, strain ING8, due to its galactose utilization capability, antimicrobial activity, and high amount of EPS production was selected for further safety and technological assessments. Some LAB strains produce different antibacterial peptides named bacteriocins, which could inhibit other bacteria species, including pathogens (47). Indeed, *L. fermentum* ING8 did not show bacteriocinogenic activity against the food-borne pathogenic bacteria tested; however, it could contrast the growth of all indicator strains to a great extent, most probably because of organic acid production and pH lowering capability.

	ING 1	ING 2	ING 3A	ING 3B	ING 4	ING 5	ING 6	ING 7A	ING 8
L. monocytogenes ATCC19117	+	+	+++	+	++	+	+	+	++++
B. cereus ATCC 11778	++	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	++++
E. coli APEC18042/2	+	+	+	+	++	+++	+	+	++++

Table 1: Antimicrobial activity by using spot on lawn technique.

\*Inhibition diagonal (mm) diameter  $\leq 12 = (+)$ ;  $13 \leq diameter \leq 20 = (++)$ ;  $21 \leq diameter \leq 30 = (+++)$ ; diameter  $\geq 31 = (+++)$ .

### 4.3.5. Safety assessments of *L. fermentum* ING8

The MIC for nine antibiotics, recommended by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) was evaluated for strain ING8. As a result, the strain was susceptible to tetracycline, erythromycin, ampicillin, chloramphenicol, gentamycin, streptomycin, and ciprofloxacin. However, it was resistant to kanamycin and vancomycin (Table 2). On the other side, strain ING8 did not reveal any hemolytic activity when spotted on MRS plates containing 5% (w/v) sheep blood.

**Table 2.** MIC values for human and veterinary relevant antibiotics. Breakpoints ( $\mu$ g/mL) suggested by EFSA are reported in parentheses.

	Antibiotics									
Strain/Antib	chloramph	Gentam	tetracyc	erythrom	ampici	streptom	vancom	Ciproflox	Kanam	
iotics	enicol	icin	line	ycin	llin	ycin	ycin	acin	ycin	
ING8	4	8	<0.125	0.5	0.5	16	>64	4	32	

\* Strains with MIC higher than the breakpoint (in bold) are considered resistant. \*\*n.r. not required by EFSA.

# 4.3.6. Technological properties of L. fermentum ING8

Proteolytic, lipolytic and amylolytic activities assessments did not reveal the presence of any of these properties in strain ING8 (Table 3). Regarding NaCl tolerance, ING8 could grow well in MRS containing 2% and 6% NaCl but it was not able to grow in the presence of 10 % NaCl (Table 3). On the other hand, it showed optimal capability to grow at 30 °C and 37 °C, and very good to 45 °C and 50 °C, with relatively good acidification capability (around pH 4) after 24h (Figure 3-A) and coagulation ability (after 24h) tested in 10% sterile skimmed milk. Regarding the viability during 21 days of storage, we did not detect any reduction in viability of ING8 in 10% skimmed milk stored at 4°C ( $p \le 0.05$ ) (Figure 3-B). Technological properties such as proteolytic, lipolytic, and amylolytic activities of LAB can positively affect texture and flavor of the products. In addition, starter cultures are usually exposed to some harsh conditions such as high temperatures or high NaCl concentration, depending on the type of cheese, which can cause early autolysis of starter cultures due to osmotic stress (188).

	Different temperatures (C°)*					Different NaCl (%)**					
	30	37	45	50	0	2	6	10	Proteolytic ***	Lipolytic***	Amylolytic***
L. fermentum ING8	+++	+++	++	++	+++	+++	++	-	-	-	-

Table 3. Technological properties of EPS producer strain L. fermentum ING8.

\*Growth measured by spectrophotometric method: OD <0.05 = (-); OD 0.05 <0.1 = (+); OD <0.5 = (+++); OD >0.5 = (+++).

\*\* Growth measured by spectrophotometric method:  $OD \le 0.05 = (-)$ ;  $OD \ 0.05 \le 0.1 = (+)$ ;  $OD \le 0.5 = (+++)$ .

\*\*\*positive result (+), negative result (-)



**Figure 3.** A: pH reduction and acidification of *L. fermentum* ING8, B: Survivability of *L. fermentum* ING8 cells during 21 days.

## 4.3.7. Genomic analysis of L. fermentum ING8

The assembled genome of the EPS producer *L. fermentum* ING8, generated 25 scaffolds (158 contigs), giving a full genome size of 1.98 Mb with 51.3 GC% content (Table 4). The circular graphical genome map of *L. fermentum* ING8 is reported in Figure 4. The gene prediction done by RAST revealed a total of 2103 protein-coding sequences (CDSs) classified in 208 SEED subsystems. Fifty-eight structural RNAs and 13 genes related to osmotic, oxidative, and

detoxification stress responses were predicted after the annotation (Figure 5). Neither virulencerelated genes nor acquired antibiotic resistance and plasmid sequences were detected after the annotation (Table 4). The largest section of the ING8 genome subsystem is dedicated to amino acids and derivatives (16.32%), followed by protein metabolisms (13.37%) and carbohydrate metabolism with 12.85%, respectively (Figure 5). Moreover, a deep search within the genome of *L. fermentum* ING8 revealed the presence of the complete gal operon with all its structural genes (*galK*, *galT*, *galE*, *galM*, *galR*, *and galA*) and of EPS production-related genes (*epsB*, *epsC*, *epsD*, and *epsE*). Finally, microbes that are used to produce food should be safe. They should come from the qualified list established by EFSA according to their taxonomy and a very long periods of safe use, and must be examined for the presence of acquired and transmissible antibiotic resistance genes within their genomes as well as hemolytic-related genes (*62*). Therefore, the genome sequencing of new strains has becomes mandatory to precisely determine their taxonomy and retrieve all safety-related information present inside the genome (36, 89).

Feature	Value
Genome size	1,981,384
G+C content (%)	51.3
Contig N50	41442
Contig L50	17
Number of contigs	158
Number of Protein Coding Sequences (CDSs)	2103
Number of tRNAs	57
Number of rRNAs (5S, 16S, 23S)	3
Number of genes related to plasmid and acquired antibiotic resistant gene	0
Number of genes related to Virulence, Disease, and Defense	0

**Table 4.** Genome features of L. fermentum ING8.



**Figure 4.** The circular graphical genome map of *L. fermentum* ING8, from outer to inner rings, ORF on the forward strand, GC content, GC skew, and ORF on the reverse strand.



Figure 5. The overview of the RAST annotation and subsystems for *L. fermentum* ING8 genome.

# 4.5. Conclusion

In this study, we have isolated and studied *L. fermentum* ING8, a strain capable of galactose utilization with antimicrobial activity and good EPS production, which, interestingly, did not show any viability loss during 21 days of storage at refrigeration temperature. Besides, *L. fermentum* ING8 revealed relatively good tolerance to high temperatures and high concentrations of NaCl. On the other side, the deep genomic analysis of this strain did not reveal any possible deleterious characteristics such as presence of virulence genes, acquired antibiotic resistance genes or hemolytic-related traits. For these reasons, this strain has a good potential to be used as a multifunctional co-starter culture to produce different dairy products.

# References

- 1. ZAIKA LL, ZELL TatE, Smith JL, Palumbo SA, Kissinger JC. 1976. The role of nitrite and nitrate in Lebanon Bologna, a fermented sausage. J Food Sci 41:1457–1460.
- 2. William H. 2000. Official methods of analysis of AOAC International. AOAC Off method 98529.
- 3. Poitevin E. 2016. Official methods for the determination of minerals and trace elements in infant formula and milk products: a review. J AOAC Int 99:42–52.
- 4. Hammer Ø, Harper DAT a. T, Ryan PD. 2001. PAST: Paleontological Statistics Software Package for Education and Data Analysis. Palaeontol Electron.
- 5. Parks DH, Tyson GW, Hugenholtz P, Beiko RG. 2014. STAMP: Statistical analysis of taxonomic and functional profiles. Bioinformatics 30:3123–3124.
- 6. Shangpliang HNJ, Rai R, Keisam S, Jeyaram K, Tamang JP. 2018. Bacterial community in naturally fermented milk products of Arunachal Pradesh and Sikkim of India analysed by high-throughput amplicon sequencing. Sci Rep.
- 7. Zhong Z, Hou Q, Kwok L, Yu Z, Zheng Y, Sun Z, Menghe B, Zhang H. 2016. Bacterial microbiota compositions of naturally fermented milk are shaped by both geographic origin and sample type. J Dairy Sci.
- 8. Li N, Wang Y, You C, Ren J, Chen W, Zheng H, Liu Z. 2018. Variation in Raw Milk Microbiota Throughout 12 Months and the Impact of Weather Conditions. Sci Rep 8.
- 9. Sun Z, Liu W, Bao Q, Zhang J, Hou Q, Kwok L, Sun T, Zhang H. 2014. Investigation of bacterial and fungal diversity in tarag using high-throughput sequencing. J Dairy Sci.
- 10. Guo L, Ya M, Guo YS, Xu WL, Li CD, Sun JP, Zhu JJ, Qian JP. 2019. Study of bacterial and fungal community structures in traditional koumiss from Inner Mongolia. J Dairy Sci.
- 11. Lew LC, Hor YY, Yusoff NAA, Choi SB, Yusoff MSB, Roslan NS, Ahmad A, Mohammad JAM, Abdullah MFIL, Zakaria N, Wahid N, Sun Z, Kwok LY, Zhang H, Liong MT. 2018. Probiotic Lactobacillus plantarum P8 alleviated stress and anxiety while enhancing memory and cognition in stressed adults: A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Clin Nutr.
- 12. Joghataei M, Shahidi F, Pouladfar G, Mortazavi SA, Ghaderi A. 2019. Probiotic potential comparison of Lactobacillus strains isolated from Iranian traditional food products and human feces with standard probiotic strains. J Sci Food Agric jsfa.9945.
- 13. Gänzle MG, Zheng J. 2019. Lifestyles of sourdough lactobacilli Do they matter for microbial ecology and bread quality? Int J Food Microbiol 302:15–23.
- 14. Howe E, Holton K, Nair S, Schlauch D, Sinha R, Quackenbush J. 2010. MeV: MultiExperiment Viewer, p. 267–277. *In* Ochs, MF, Casagrande, JT, Davuluri, R V (eds.), Biomedical Informatics for Cancer Research. Springer US, Boston, MA.
- Bartkiene E, Bartkevics V, Krungleviciute V, Juodeikiene G, Zadeike D, Baliukoniene V, Bakutis B, Zelvyte R, Santini A, Cizeikiene D. 2018. Application of hydrolases and probiotic Pediococcus acidilactici BaltBio01 strain for cereal by-products conversion to bioproduct for food/feed. Int J Food Sci Nutr 69:165–175.
- 16. Fleming HP, Etchells JL, Costilow RN. 1975. Microbial inhibition by an isolate of Pediococcus from cucumber brines. Appl Environ Microbiol 30:1040–1042.
- 17. Papagianni M, Anastasiadou S. 2009. Pediocins: The bacteriocins of Pediococci. Sources, production, properties and applications. Microb Cell Fact.

- 18. Mizoguchi T, Kasahara K, Yamashita T, Sasaki N, Yodoi K, Matsumoto T, Emoto T, Hayashi T, Kitano N, Yoshida N, Amin HZ, Hirata K ichi. 2017. Oral administration of the lactic acid bacterium Pediococcus acidilactici attenuates atherosclerosis in mice by inducing tolerogenic dendritic cells. Heart Vessels.
- 19. Wang C, Wang H, Zhao Z, Xiao S, Zhao Y, Duan C, Gao L, Li S, Wang J. 2019. Pediococcus acidilactici AS185 attenuates early atherosclerosis development through inhibition of lipid regulation and inflammation in rats. J Funct Foods 60:103424.
- 20. Linares DM, O'Callaghan TF, O'Connor PM, Ross RP, Stanton C. 2016. Streptococcus thermophilus APC151 strain is suitable for the manufacture of naturally gaba-enriched bioactive yogurt. Front Microbiol.
- 21. Vendramin V, Treu L, Campanaro S, Lombardi A, Corich V, Giacomini A. 2017. Genome comparison and physiological characterization of eight Streptococcus thermophilus strains isolated from Italian dairy products. Food Microbiol 63:47–57.
- 22. Klein BG. 2013. Cunningham's Textbook of Veterinary Physiology-E-Book. Elsevier Health Sciences.
- 23. Fish JA, DeVries TJ. 2012. Varying dietary dry matter concentration through water addition: Effect on nutrient intake and sorting of dairy cows in late lactation. J Dairy Sci 95:850–855.
- 24. Lai CY, Fatimah AB, Mahyudin NA, Saari N, Zaman MZ. 2016. Physico-chemical and microbiological qualities of locally produced raw goat milk. Int Food Res J 23.
- 25. Bergamo P, Fedele E, Iannibelli L, Marzillo G. 2003. Fat-soluble vitamin contents and fatty acid composition in organic and conventional Italian dairy products. Food Chem 82:625–631.
- 26. Muehlhoff E, Bennett A, McMahon D. 2013. Milk and dairy products in human nutrition. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).
- 27. Jafari M, Rezaei M, Gheisari HR, Abhari K, Khaniki GJ, Noori N, Mousavi Khaneghah A. 2019. Application of cultivable lactic acid bacteria isolated from Iranian traditional dairy products for the production of liquid and dried kashks. LWT 116:108519.
- González-Martín MI, Hernández-Hierro JM, Revilla I, Vivar-Quintana AM, Lobos-Ortega IA, González Pérez C. 2009. Changes in the mineral content in cheeses of different compositions during 6 months of ripening. Czech J Food Sci 27 (SPEC), S114-S118.
- 29. Levkov V, Stafilov T, Pacinovski N, Andonovska KB, Mateva N, Gjorgovska N, Eftimova E, Kostadinov T. 2017. THE CONTENT OF MACRO AND TRACE ELEMENTS IN CURD AND TRADITIONAL WHITE BRINED CHEESE. Vet ir Zootech 75.
- 30. Milind P, Jyoti M. 2014. Curd: A sedative with a bonus bowl of useful side effect. Int Res J Pharm 5:131–135.
- 31. Tang M, Odejinmi SI, Vankayalapati H, Wierenga KJ, Lai K. 2012. Innovative therapy for Classic Galactosemia—Tale of two HTS. Mol Genet Metab 105:44–55.
- 32. McCorvie TJ, Timson DJ. 2011. The structural and molecular biology of type I galactosemia: Enzymology of galactose 1-phosphate uridylyltransferase. IUBMB Life 63:694–700.
- 33. Tarrah A, Noal V, Treu L, Giaretta S, da Silva Duarte V, Corich V, Giacomini A. 2018. Comparison of growth kinetics at different temperatures of Streptococcus macedonicus and Streptococcus thermophilus strains of dairy origin. J Dairy Sci 101:7812–7816.
- 34. Tarrah A, Noal V, Giaretta S, Treu L, da Silva Duarte V, Corich V, Giacomini A. 2018. Effect of different initial pH on the growth of Streptococcus macedonicus and Streptococcus thermophilus strains. Int Dairy J 86.

- 35. Tarrah A, Treu L, Giaretta S, Duarte V, Corich V, Giacomini A. 2018. Differences in Carbohydrates Utilization and Antibiotic Resistance Between Streptococcus macedonicus and Streptococcus thermophilus Strains Isolated from Dairy Products in Italy. Curr Microbiol 1–11.
- Tarrah A, Pakroo S, Junior WJFL, Guerra AF, Corich V, Giacomini A. 2020. Complete Genome Sequence and Carbohydrates-Active EnZymes (CAZymes) Analysis of Lactobacillus paracasei DTA72, a Potential Probiotic Strain with Strong Capability to Use Inulin. Curr Microbiol 1–9.
- 37. De Vrese M, Schrezenmeir J. 2008. Probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics, p. 1–66. *In* Food biotechnology. Springer.
- 38. Liu Y-W, Liong M-T, Tsai Y-C. 2018. New perspectives of Lactobacillus plantarum as a probiotic: The gut-heart-brain axis. J Microbiol 56:601–613.
- Sriphannam W, Lumyong S, Niumsap P, Ashida H, Yamamoto K, Khanongnuch C. 2012. A selected probiotic strain of Lactobacillus fermentum CM33 isolated from breast-fed infants as a potential source of β-galactosidase for prebiotic oligosaccharide synthesis. J Microbiol 50:119– 126.
- 40. Adam JK, Odhav B, Naidu K. 2012. Probiotics: Recent understandings and biomedical applications. Curr Trends Biotechnol Pharm 6:1–14.
- 41. Hotel ACP, Cordoba A. 2001. Health and nutritional properties of probiotics in food including powder milk with live lactic acid bacteria. Prevention 5:1–10.
- 42. Klein G, Hallmann C, Casas IA, Abad J, Louwers J, Reuter G. 2000. Exclusion of vanA, vanB and vanC type glycopeptide resistance in strains of Lactobacillus reuteri and Lactobacillus rhamnosus used as probiotics by polymerase chain reaction and hybridization methods. J Appl Microbiol 89:815–824.
- 43. Aloğlu H, Öner Z. 2006. Assimilation of cholesterol in broth, cream, and butter by probiotic bacteria. Eur J Lipid Sci Technol 108:709–713.
- 44. Kumar M, Verma V, Nagpal R, Kumar A, Behare P V, Singh B, Aggarwal PK. 2012. Anticarcinogenic effect of probiotic fermented milk and chlorophyllin on aflatoxin-B 1-induced liver carcinogenesis in rats. Br J Nutr 107:1006–1016.
- 45. Gérard P. 2014. Metabolism of cholesterol and bile acids by the gut microbiota. Pathogens 3:14–24.
- 46. Indira M, Venkateswarulu TC, Chakravarthy K, Reddy AR, Prabhakar KV. 2015. Isolation and characterization of bacteriocin producing lactic acid bacteria from diary effluent. Res J Pharm Technol 8:1560–1565.
- 47. Porto MCW, Kuniyoshi TM, Azevedo POS, Vitolo M, Oliveira RP de S. 2017. Pediococcus spp.: an important genus of lactic acid bacteria and pediocin producers. Biotechnol Adv 35:361–374.
- 48. Šantić Ž, Pravdić N, Bevanda M, Galić K. 2017. The historical use of medicinal plants in traditional and scientific medicine. Psychiatr Danub 29:787–792.
- 49. Hudson JB. 2012. Applications of the phytomedicine Echinacea purpurea (Purple Coneflower) in infectious diseases. J Biomed Biotechnol 2012.
- 50. Gasparetto JC, Martins CAF, Hayashi SS, Otuky MF, Pontarolo R. 2012. Ethnobotanical and scientific aspects of Malva sylvestris L.: a millennial herbal medicine. J Pharm Pharmacol 64:172–189.
- 51. AshwlayanVD KA, Verma M. 2018. Therapeutic potential of Calendula officinalis. Pharm Pharmacol Int J 6:149–155.
- 52. Di Cagno R, Filannino P, Gobbetti M. 2015. Fermented Foods: Fermented Vegetables and Other

ProductsEncyclopedia of Food and Health, 1st ed. Elsevier Ltd.

- 53. Heinrich M, Prieto JM. 2008. Diet and healthy ageing 2100: Will we globalise local knowledge systems? Ageing Res Rev. Ageing Res Rev.
- 54. Pakroo S, Tarrah A, da Silva Duarte V, Corich V, Giacomini A. 2020. Microbial Diversity and Nutritional Properties of Persian "Yellow Curd" (Kashk Zard), a Promising Functional Fermented Food. Microorganisms 8:1658.
- 55. Tarrah A, da Silva Duarte V, de Castilhos J, Pakroo S, Junior WJFL, Luchese RH, Guerra AF, Rossi RC, Ziegler DR, Corich V. 2019. Probiotic potential and biofilm inhibitory activity of Lactobacillus casei group strains isolated from infant feces. J Funct Foods 54:489–497.
- 56. Andrighetto C, Zampese L, Lombardi A. 2001. RAPD-PCR characterization of lactobacilli isolated from artisanal meat plants and traditional fermented sausages of Veneto region (Italy). Lett Appl Microbiol 33:26–30.
- 57. Fan L, McElroy K, Thomas T. 2012. Reconstruction of ribosomal RNA genes from metagenomic data. PLoS One 7.
- 58. Clarridge JE. 2004. Impact of 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis for identification of bacteria on clinical microbiology and infectious diseases. Clin Microbiol Rev 17:840–862.
- 59. Altschul SF, Madden TL, Schäffer AA, Zhang J, Zhang Z, Miller W, Lipman DJ. 1997. Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. Nucleic Acids Res 25:3389–3402.
- 60. Panel EF. 2008. Technical Guidance for assessing the safety of feed additives for the environment. EFSA J 6:842.
- 61. Wiegand I, Hilpert K, Hancock REW. 2008. Agar and broth dilution methods to determine the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of antimicrobial substances. Nat Protoc 3:163.
- 62. Tarrah A, da Silva Duarte V, Pakroo S, Corich V, Giacomini A. 2020. Genomic and phenotypic assessments of safety and probiotic properties of Streptococcus macedonicus strains of dairy origin. Food Res Int 130:108931.
- 63. Miremadi F, Ayyash M, Sherkat F, Stojanovska L. 2014. Cholesterol reduction mechanisms and fatty acid composition of cellular membranes of probiotic Lactobacilli and Bifidobacteria. J Funct Foods 9:295–305.
- 64. Faye T, Langsrud T, Nes IF, Holo H. 2000. Biochemical and genetic characterization of propionicin T1, a new bacteriocin from Propionibacterium thoenii. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:4230–4236.
- 65. Wattam AR, Davis JJ, Assaf R, Boisvert S, Brettin T, Bun C, Conrad N, Dietrich EM, Disz T, Gabbard JL. 2017. Improvements to PATRIC, the all-bacterial bioinformatics database and analysis resource center. Nucleic Acids Res 45:D535–D542.
- Aziz RK, Bartels D, Best AA, DeJongh M, Disz T, Edwards RA, Formsma K, Gerdes S, Glass EM, Kubal M. 2008. The RAST Server: rapid annotations using subsystems technology. BMC Genomics 9:75.
- 67. Bosi E, Donati B, Galardini M, Brunetti S, Sagot M-F, Lió P, Crescenzi P, Fani R, Fondi M. 2015. MeDuSa: a multi-draft based scaffolder. Bioinformatics 31:2443–2451.
- 68. Ågren J, Sundström A, Håfström T, Segerman B. 2012. Gegenees: Fragmented alignment of multiple genomes for determining phylogenomic distances and genetic signatures unique for specified target groups. PLoS One.
- 69. Kloepper TH, Huson DH. 2008. Drawing explicit phylogenetic networks and their integration into

SplitsTree. BMC Evol Biol.

- 70. Wang Y, Coleman-Derr D, Chen G, Gu YQ. 2015. OrthoVenn: a web server for genome wide comparison and annotation of orthologous clusters across multiple species. Nucleic Acids Res 43:W78–W84.
- Carattoli A, Zankari E, García-Fernández A, Larsen MV, Lund O, Villa L, Aarestrup FM, Hasman H. 2014. In silico detection and typing of plasmids using PlasmidFinder and plasmid multilocus sequence typing. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 58:3895–3903.
- Zankari E, Hasman H, Cosentino S, Vestergaard M, Rasmussen S, Lund O, Aarestrup FM, Larsen MV. 2012. Identification of acquired antimicrobial resistance genes. J Antimicrob Chemother 67:2640–2644.
- 73. van Heel AJ, de Jong A, Song C, Viel JH, Kok J, Kuipers OP. 2018. BAGEL4: a user-friendly web server to thoroughly mine RiPPs and bacteriocins. Nucleic Acids Res 46:W278–W281.
- 74. Al-Oqail MM. 2021. Anticancer efficacies of Krameria lappacea extracts against human breast cancer cell line (MCF-7): Role of oxidative stress and ROS generation. Saudi Pharm J 29:244–251.
- 75. Panel EB, Koutsoumanis K, Allende A, Alvarez-Ordonez A, Bolton D, Bover-Cid S, Chemaly M, Davies R, de Cesare A, Hilbert F. 2020. Statement on the update of the list of QPS-recommended biological agents intentionally added to food or feed as notified to EFSA 11: Suitability of taxonomic units notified to EFSA until September. EFSA J 18:e05965.
- 76. 2012. Guidance on the assessment of bacterial susceptibility to antimicrobials of human and veterinary importance. EFSA J 10.
- 77. Pineiro M, Asp N, Reid G, gastroenterology SM-..., 2008 undefined. FAO Technical meeting on prebiotics. journals.lww.com.
- 78. Curragh HJ, Collins MA. 1992. High levels of spontaneous drug resistance in Lactobacillus. J Appl Microbiol 73:31–36.
- 79. Charteris WP, Kelly PM, Morelli L, Collins JK. 1998. Antibiotic susceptibility of potentially probiotic Lactobacillus species. J Food Prot 61:1636–1643.
- 80. Faron ML, Ledeboer NA, Buchan BW. 2016. Resistance mechanisms, epidemiology, and approaches to screening for vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus in the health care setting. J Clin Microbiol. American Society for Microbiology.
- 81. Tankovic J, Leclercq R, Duval J. 1993. Antimicrobial susceptibility of Pediococcus spp. and genetic basis of macrolide resistance in Pediococcus acidilactici HM3020. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 37:789–792.
- 82. Miller WR, Munita JM, Arias CA. 2014. Mechanisms of antibiotic resistance in enterococci. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther 12:1221–1236.
- 83. Blandino G, Milazzo I, Fazio D. 2008. Antibiotic susceptibility of bacterial isolates from probiotic products available in Italy. Microb Ecol Health Dis 20:199–203.
- Aslangul E, Massias L, Meulemans A, Chau F, Andremont A, Courvalin P, Fantin B, Ruimy R. 2006. Acquired gentamicin resistance by permeability impairment in Enterococcus faecalis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 50:3615–3621.
- 85. Hill C, Guarner F, Reid G, Gibson GR, Merenstein DJ, Pot B, Morelli L, Canani RB, Flint HJ, Salminen S. 2014. Expert consensus document: The International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics consensus statement on the scope and appropriate use of the term probiotic. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 11:506.

- 86. Bezkorovainy A. 2001. Probiotics: Determinants of survival and growth in the gut. Am J Clin Nutr 73:399–405.
- 87. Senok AC, Ismaeel AY, Botta GA. 2005. Probiotics: facts and myths. Clin Microbiol Infect 11:958–966.
- 88. Vidhyasagar V, Jeevaratnam K. 2013. Evaluation of Pediococcus pentosaceus strains isolated from Idly batter for probiotic properties in vitro. J Funct Foods 5:235–243.
- 89. Tarrah A, Pakroo S, Corich V, Giacomini A. 2020. Whole-genome sequence and comparative genome analysis of Lactobacillus paracasei DTA93, a promising probiotic lactic acid bacterium. Arch Microbiol.
- Zommiti M, Bouffartigues E, Maillot O, Barreau M, Szunerits S, Sebei K, Feuilloley M, Connil N, Ferchichi M. 2018. In vitro assessment of the probiotic properties and bacteriocinogenic potential of Pediococcus pentosaceus MZF16 isolated from artisanal Tunisian meat "Dried Ossban." Front Microbiol 9:2607.
- 91. Cotter PD, Hill C. 2003. Surviving the acid test: responses of gram-positive bacteria to low pH. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 67:429–453.
- 92. Sebald W, Friedl P, Schairer HU, Hoppe J. 1982. STRUCTURE AND GENETICS OF THE H+-CONDUCTING F0 PORTION OF THE ATP SYNTHASE. Ann N Y Acad Sci 402:28–44.
- 93. Prete R, Long SL, Gallardo AL, Gahan CG, Corsetti A, Joyce SA. 2020. Beneficial bile acid metabolism from Lactobacillus plantarum of food origin. Sci Rep 10:1–11.
- 94. Janssen AWF, Kersten S. 2015. The role of the gut microbiota in metabolic health. FASEB J 29:3111–3123.
- 95. Öner Ö, Aslim B, Aydaş SB. 2014. Mechanisms of cholesterol-lowering effects of lactobacilli and bifidobacteria strains as potential probiotics with their bsh gene analysis. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 24:12–18.
- 96. Pan DD, Zeng XQ, Yan YT. 2011. Characterisation of Lactobacillus fermentum SM-7 isolated from koumiss, a potential probiotic bacterium with cholesterol-lowering effects. J Sci Food Agric 91:512–518.
- 97. Pereira DIA, Gibson GR. 2002. Effects of consumption of probiotics and prebiotics on serum lipid levels in humans. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 37:259–281.
- 98. Walker DK, Gilliland SE. 1993. Relationships among bile tolerance, bile salt deconjugation, and assimilation of cholesterol by Lactobacillus acidophilus. J Dairy Sci 76:956–961.
- 99. Gilliland SE, Nelson CR, Maxwell C. 1985. Assimilation of cholesterol by Lactobacillus acidophilus. Appl Environ Microbiol 49:377–381.
- 100. Lim S-M. 2011. Bile salts degradation and cholesterol assimilation ability of Pediococcus pentosaceus MLK67 isolated from mustard leaf Kimchi. Korean J Microbiol 47:231–240.
- Lim FT, Lim SM, Ramasamy K. 2017. Pediococcus acidilactici LAB4 and Lactobacillus plantarum LAB12 assimilate cholesterol and modulate ABCA1, CD36, NPC1L1 and SCARB1 in vitro. Benef Microbes 8:97–109.
- Lee J, Kim Y, Yun HS, Kim JG, Oh S, Kim SH. 2010. Genetic and proteomic analysis of factors affecting serum cholesterol reduction by Lactobacillus acidophilus A4. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:4829–4835.
- 103. Al-Snafi AE. 2015. The chemical constituents and pharmacological effects of Calendula officinalis-A review. Indian J Pharm Sci Res 5:172–185.
- 104. Coelho J, Barros L, Dias MI, Finimundy TC, Amaral JS, Alves MJ, Calhelha RC, Santos PF,

Ferreira ICFR. 2020. Echinacea purpurea (L.) Moench: chemical characterization and bioactivity of its extracts and fractions. Pharmaceuticals 13:125.

- 105. Sharifi-Rad J, Melgar-Lalanne G, Hernández-Álvarez AJ, Taheri Y, Shaheen S, Kregiel D, Antolak H, Pawlikowska E, Brdar-Jokanović M, Rajkovic J. 2020. Malva species: Insights on its chemical composition towards pharmacological applications. Phyther Res 34:546–567.
- 106. Ruiz Rodríguez LG, Mohamed F, Bleckwedel J, Medina R, De Vuyst L, Hebert EM, Mozzi F. 2019. Diversity and functional properties of lactic acid bacteria isolated from wild fruits and flowers present in Northern Argentina. Front Microbiol 10:1091.
- Ding X, Hu X, Chen Y, Xie J, Ying M, Wang Y, Yu Q. 2021. Differentiated Caco-2 cell models in food-intestine interaction study: Current applications and future trends. Trends Food Sci Technol 107:455–465.
- Stockdale TP, Challinor VL, Lehmann RP, De Voss JJ, Blanchfield JT. 2019. Caco-2 monolayer permeability and stability of Chamaelirium luteum (False Unicorn) open-chain steroidal saponins. ACS Omega 4:7658–7666.
- 109. Alnuqaydan AM, Lenehan CE, Hughes RR, Sanderson BJ. 2015. Extracts from Calendula officinalis offer in vitro protection against H2O2 induced oxidative stress cell killing of human skin cells. Phyther Res 29:120–124.
- 110. Lee A V, Oesterreich S, Davidson NE. 2015. MCF-7 cells—changing the course of breast cancer research and care for 45 years. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst 107.
- 111. Aggarwal BB, Shishodia S. 2006. Molecular targets of dietary agents for prevention and therapy of cancer. Biochem Pharmacol 71:1397–1421.
- 112. Cruceriu D, Balacescu O, Rakosy E. 2018. Calendula officinalis: potential roles in cancer treatment and palliative care. Integr Cancer Ther 17:1068–1078.
- 113. Bartel DP. 2018. Metazoan micrornas. Cell 173:20-51.
- 114. Peng Y, Croce CM. 2016. The role of MicroRNAs in human cancer. Signal Transduct Target Ther 1:1–9.
- 115. Van Slooten HJ, Clahsen PC, Van Dierendonck JH, Duval CH, Pallud C, Mandard AM, Delobelle-Deroide A, Van De Velde CJ, Van De Vijver MJ. 1996. Expression of Bcl-2 in node-negative breast cancer is associated with various prognostic factors, but does not predict response to one course of perioperative chemotherapy. Br J Cancer 74:78–85.
- Sims EK, Lakhter AJ, Anderson-Baucum E, Kono T, Tong X, Evans-Molina C. 2017. MicroRNA 21 targets BCL2 mRNA to increase apoptosis in rat and human beta cells. Diabetologia 60:1057– 1065.
- 117. Tarrah A, Noal V, Treu L, Giaretta S, da Silva Duarte V, Corich V, Giacomini A. 2018. Short communication: Comparison of growth kinetics at different temperatures of Streptococcus macedonicus and Streptococcus thermophilus strains of dairy origin. J Dairy Sci 101.
- 118. Giaretta S, Treu L, Vendramin V, da Silva Duarte V, Tarrah A, Campanaro S, Corich V, Giacomini A. 2018. Comparative Transcriptomic Analysis of Streptococcus thermophilus TH1436 and TH1477 Showing Different Capability in the Use of Galactose. Front Microbiol 9.
- 119. Tarrah A, Treu L, Giaretta S, Duarte V, Corich V, Giacomini A. 2018. Differences in Carbohydrates Utilization and Antibiotic Resistance Between Streptococcus macedonicus and Streptococcus thermophilus Strains Isolated from Dairy Products in Italy. Curr Microbiol.
- 120. Mater DDG, Bretigny L, Firmesse O, Flores M, Mogenet A, Bresson J, Corthier G. 2005. Streptococcus thermophilus and Lactobacillus delbrueckii subsp. bulgaricus survive

gastrointestinal transit of healthy volunteers consuming yogurt. FEMS Microbiol Lett 250:185–187.

- 121. Sybesma W, Starrenburg M, Tijsseling L, Hoefnagel MHN, Hugenholtz J. 2003. Effects of cultivation conditions on folate production by lactic acid bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:4542–4548.
- 122. Iyer R, Tomar SK, Uma Maheswari T, Singh R. 2010. Streptococcus thermophilus strains: Multifunctional lactic acid bacteria. Int Dairy J.
- 123. Collins JK, Thornton G, Sullivan GO. 1998. Selection of probiotic strains for human applications. Int Dairy J 8:487–490.
- 124. Cook MT, Tzortzis G, Charalampopoulos D, Khutoryanskiy V V. 2012. Microencapsulation of probiotics for gastrointestinal delivery. J Control Release 162:56–67.
- 125. Terpou A, Papadaki A, Lappa IK, Kachrimanidou V, Bosnea LA, Kopsahelis N. 2019. Probiotics in food systems: Significance and emerging strategies towards improved viability and delivery of enhanced beneficial value. Nutrients 11:1591.
- 126. Timilsena YP, Haque MA, Adhikari B. 2020. Encapsulation in the Food Industry: A Brief Historical Overview to Recent Developments. Food Nutr Sci 11:481–508.
- 127. Iravani S, Korbekandi H, Mirmohammadi SV. 2015. Technology and potential applications of probiotic encapsulation in fermented milk products. J Food Sci Technol. Springer India.
- 128. Mortazavian A, Razavi SH, Ehsani MR, Sohrabvandi S. 2007. Principles and Methods of Microencapsulation of Probiotic MicroorganismsIranian Journal of Biotechnology. National Institute of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology.
- 129. Rokka S, Rantamäki P. 2010. Protecting probiotic bacteria by microencapsulation: Challenges for industrial applications. Eur Food Res Technol 231:1–12.
- Etchepare M de A, Barin JS, Cichoski AJ, Jacob-Lopes E, Wagner R, Fries LLM, de Menezes CR. 2015. Microencapsulation of probiotics using sodium alginate. Cienc Rural 45:1319–1326.
- 131. Chaturvedi P, Warren CD, Altaye M, Morrow AL, Ruiz-Palacios G, Pickering LK, Newburg DS. 2001. Fucosylated human milk oligosaccharides vary between individuals and over the course of lactationGlycobiology.
- 132. Vandenplas Y, Berger B, Carnielli VP, Ksiazyk J, Lagström H, Sanchez Luna M, Migacheva N, Mosselmans J-M, Picaud J-C, Possner M. 2018. Human milk oligosaccharides: 2'-fucosyllactose (2'-FL) and lacto-N-neotetraose (LNnT) in infant formula. Nutrients 10:1161.
- 133. Elison E, Vigsnaes LK, Krogsgaard LR, Rasmussen J, Sørensen N, McConnell B, Hennet T, Sommer MOA, Bytzer P. 2016. Oral supplementation of healthy adults with 2'-O-fucosyllactose and lacto-N-neotetraose is well tolerated and shifts the intestinal microbiota. Br J Nutr 116:1356– 1368.
- 134. Salli K, Anglenius H, Hirvonen J, Hibberd AA, Ahonen I, Saarinen MT, Tiihonen K, Maukonen J, Ouwehand AC. 2019. The effect of 2'-fucosyllactose on simulated infant gut microbiome and metabolites; a pilot study in comparison to GOS and lactose. Sci Rep 9:1–15.
- 135. Coulet M, Phothirath P, Allais L, Schilter B. 2014. Pre-clinical safety evaluation of the synthetic human milk, nature-identical, oligosaccharide 2'-O-Fucosyllactose (2'FL). Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 68:59–69.
- 136. Tarrah A, De Castilhos J, Rossi RC, Duarte VDS, Ziegler D, Corich V, Giacomini A. 2018. In vitro probiotic potential and anti-cancer activity of newly isolated folate-producing Streptococcus thermophilus strains. Front Microbiol 9:2214.

- 137. Treu L, Vendramin V, Bovo B, Campanaro S, Corich V, Giacomini A. 2014. Genome sequences of four Italian Streptococcus thermophilus strains of dairy origin. Genome Announc 2.
- 138. Chávarri M, Marañón I, Ares R, Ibáñez FC, Marzo F, Villarán M del C. 2010. Microencapsulation of a probiotic and prebiotic in alginate-chitosan capsules improves survival in simulated gastro-intestinal conditions. Int J Food Microbiol 142:185–189.
- 139. Singh M, Sharma D, Chauhan R, Goel G. 2019. Skimmed Milk-Based Encapsulation for Enhanced Stability and Viability of Lactobacillus gastricus BTM 7 Under Simulated Gastrointestinal Conditions. Probiotics Antimicrob Proteins 11:850–856.
- 140. Shi L-E, Li Z-H, Zhang Z-L, Zhang T-T, Yu W-M, Zhou M-L, Tang Z-X. 2013. Encapsulation of Lactobacillus bulgaricus in carrageenan-locust bean gum coated milk microspheres with double layer structure. LWT-Food Sci Technol 54:147–151.
- 141. El-shafei K, Abdallah NA, Tawfik NF, El-sayed HS, Mahmoud M. 2018. Effect of different microencapsulating materials on survivability of Streptococcus thermophilus under simulated food processing and gastrointestinal conditions. Middle East J Appl Sci 259–271.
- 142. Vaziri AS, Alemzadeh I, Vossoughi M, Khorasani AC. 2018. Co-microencapsulation of Lactobacillus plantarum and DHA fatty acid in alginate-pectin-gelatin biocomposites. Carbohydr Polym 199:266–275.
- 143. Heidebach T, Först P, Kulozik U. 2012. Microencapsulation of Probiotic Cells for Food Applications. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 52:291–311.
- 144. Liao N, Luo B, Gao J, Li X, Zhao Z, Zhang Y, Ni Y, Tian F. 2019. Oligosaccharides as coencapsulating agents: effect on oral Lactobacillus fermentum survival in a simulated gastrointestinal tract. Biotechnol Lett 41:263–272.
- 145. Sathyabama S, Ranjith kumar M, Bruntha devi P, Vijayabharathi R, Brindha priyadharisini V. 2014. Co-encapsulation of probiotics with prebiotics on alginate matrix and its effect on viability in simulated gastric environment. LWT - Food Sci Technol 57:419–425.
- 146. Annan NT, Borza AD, Hansen LT. 2008. Encapsulation in alginate-coated gelatin microspheres improves survival of the probiotic Bifidobacterium adolescentis 15703T during exposure to simulated gastro-intestinal conditions. Food Res Int 41:184–193.
- 147. Wang L, Yu X, Xu H, Aguilar ZP, Wei H. 2016. Effect of skim milk coated inulin-alginate encapsulation beads on viability and gene expression of Lactobacillus plantarum during freezedrying. LWT - Food Sci Technol 68:8–13.
- Shiby VK, Mishra HN. 2013. Fermented Milks and Milk Products as Functional Foods-A Review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 53:482–496.
- 149. Shah N. 2000. Probiotic bacteria: Selective enumeration and survival in dairy foods. J Dairy Sci 83:894–907.
- 150. Capela P, Hay TKC, Shah NP. 2006. Effect of cryoprotectants, prebiotics and microencapsulation on survival of probiotic organisms in yoghurt and freeze-dried yoghurt. Food Res Int 39:203–211.
- 151. Hols P, Hancy F, Fontaine L, Grossiord B, Prozzi D, Leblond-Bourget N, Decaris B, Bolotin A, Delorme C, Ehrlich SD, Guédon E, Monnet V, Renault P, Kleerebezem M. 2005. New insights in the molecular biology and physiology of Streptococcus thermophilus revealed by comparative genomics. FEMS Microbiol Rev 29:435–463.
- 152. Jiménez-Pranteda ML, Poncelet D, Náder-Macías ME, Arcos A, Aguilera M, Monteoliva-Sánchez M, Ramos-Cormenzana A. 2012. Stability of lactobacilli encapsulated in various microbial polymers. J Biosci Bioeng 113:179–184.

- 153. Duconseille A, Astruc T, Quintana N, Meersman F, Sante-Lhoutellier V. 2015. Gelatin structure and composition linked to hard capsule dissolution: A review. Food Hydrocoll 43:360–376.
- 154. Wiciński M, Sawicka E, Gębalski J, Kubiak K, Malinowski B. 2020. Human milk oligosaccharides: Health benefits, potential applications in infant formulas, and pharmacology. Nutrients 12:266.
- 155. Khosravi Zanjani MA, Tarzi BG, Sharifan A, Mohammadi N. 2014. Microencapsulation of probiotics by calcium alginate-gelatinized starch with chitosan coating and evaluation of survival in simulated human gastro-intestinal condition. Iran J Pharm Res 13:843–852.
- 156. Gandomi H, Abbaszadeh S, Misaghi A, Bokaie S, Noori N. 2016. Effect of chitosan-alginate encapsulation with inulin on survival of Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG during apple juice storage and under simulated gastrointestinal conditions. LWT Food Sci Technol 69:365–371.
- 157. Lee Y, Ji YR, Lee S, Choi M-J, Cho Y. 2019. Microencapsulation of probiotic Lactobacillus acidophilus kbl409 by extrusion technology to enhance survival under simulated intestinal and freeze-drying conditions. J Microbiol Biotechnol 29:721–730.
- 158. Chen MY, Zheng W, Dong QY, Li ZH, Shi LE, Tang ZX. 2014. Activity of encapsulated Lactobacillus bulgaricus in alginate-whey protein microspheres. Brazilian Arch Biol Technol 57:736–741.
- 159. Sabikhi L, Babu R, Thompkinson DK, Kapila S. 2010. Resistance of microencapsulated Lactobacillus acidophilus LA1 to processing treatments and simulated gut conditions. Food Bioprocess Technol 3:586–593.
- 160. Shangpliang HNJ, Sharma S, Rai R, Tamang JP. 2017. Some technological properties of lactic acid bacteria isolated from Dahi and Datshi, naturally fermented milk products of Bhutan. Front Microbiol 8:116.
- 161. Pakroo S, Tarrah A, Da Silva Duarte V, Corich V, Giacomini A. 2020. Microbial diversity and nutritional properties of persian 'yellow curd' (Kashk zard), a promising functional fermented food. Microorganisms 8:1–14.
- 162. Sarkar S, Sur M. 2017. Augmentation of biofunctionality of dahi. Int J DAIRY Sci 12:243–253.
- 163. Akgun A, Yazici F, Gulec HA. 2016. Effect of reduced fat content on the physicochemical and microbiological properties of buffalo milk yoghurt. LWT 74:521–527.
- 164. Ibrahim SA. 2016. Lactic Acid Bacteria: Lactobacillus spp. Other Species Ref Modul Food Sci Elsevier.
- 165. Bao Y, Zhang Y, Zhang Y, Liu Y, Wang S, Dong X, Wang Y, Zhang H. 2010. Screening of potential probiotic properties of Lactobacillus fermentum isolated from traditional dairy products. Food Control 21:695–701.
- 166. Plavec TV, Berlec A. 2020. Safety Aspects of Genetically Modified Lactic Acid Bacteria. Microorganisms 8:297.
- 167. Ale EC, Rojas MF, Reinheimer JA, Binetti AG. 2020. Lactobacillus fermentum: Could EPS production ability be responsible for functional properties? Food Microbiol 90:103465.
- Papadimitriou K, Alegría Á, Bron PA, De Angelis M, Gobbetti M, Kleerebezem M, Lemos JA, Linares DM, Ross P, Stanton C. 2016. Stress physiology of lactic acid bacteria. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 80:837–890.
- 169. Lemos Junior WJF, Guerra AF, Tarrah A, da Silva Duarte V, Giacomini A, Luchese RH, Corich V. 2019. Safety and Stability of Two Potentially Probiotic Lactobacillus Strains After In Vitro Gastrointestinal Transit. Probiotics Antimicrob Proteins.

- 170. Igoshi A, Sato Y, Kameyama K, Murata M. 2017. Galactose is the limiting factor for the browning or discoloration of cheese during storage. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 63:412–418.
- 171. Crow V, Curry B. 2002. LACTOBACILLUS spp. | Other Species, p. 1507–1511. *In* Encyclopedia of Dairy Sciences. Elsevier.
- 172. Wu Q, Cheung CKW, Shah NP. 2015. Towards galactose accumulation in dairy foods fermented by conventional starter cultures: Challenges and strategies. Trends Food Sci Technol.
- 173. Gaenzle MG. 2015. Lactic metabolism revisited: metabolism of lactic acid bacteria in food fermentations and food spoilage. Curr Opin Food Sci 2:106–117.
- 174. Koller M, Bona R, Braunegg G, Hermann C, Horvat P, Kroutil M, Martinz J, Neto J, Pereira L, Varila P. 2005. Production of polyhydroxyalkanoates from agricultural waste and surplus materials. Biomacromolecules 6:561–565.
- 175. Carvalho F, Prazeres AR, Rivas J. 2013. Cheese whey wastewater: characterization and treatment. Sci Total Environ 445:385–396.
- 176. Mollea C, Marmo L, Bosco F. 2013. Valorisation of cheese whey, a by-product from the dairy industryFood industry. InTech.
- 177. Ribeiro SC, Coelho MC, Todorov SD, Franco B, Dapkevicius MLE, Silva CCG. 2014. Technological properties of bacteriocin-producing lactic acid bacteria isolated from P ico cheese an artisanal cow's milk cheese. J Appl Microbiol 116:573–585.
- 178. Smitinont T, Tansakul C, Tanasupawat S, Keeratipibul S, Navarini L, Bosco M, Cescutti P. 1999. Exopolysaccharide-producing lactic acid bacteria strains from traditional thai fermented foods: isolation, identification and exopolysaccharide characterization. Int J Food Microbiol 51:105–111.
- 179. Taheri HR, Moravej H, Tabandeh F, Zaghari M, Shivazad M. 2009. Screening of lactic acid bacteria toward their selection as a source of chicken probiotic. Poult Sci 88:1586–1593.
- 180. Pakroo S, Ghion G, Tarrah A, Giacomini A, Corich V. 2021. Effects of 2'-Fucosyllactose-Based Encapsulation on Probiotic Properties in Streptococcus thermophilus. Appl Sci 11:5761.
- 181. Stothard P, Wishart DS. 2005. Circular genome visualization and exploration using CGView. Bioinformatics 21:537–539.
- 182. Bertelli C, Laird MR, Williams KP, Lau BY, Hoad G, Winsor GL, Brinkman FSL. 2017. IslandViewer 4: Expanded prediction of genomic islands for larger-scale datasets. Nucleic Acids Res.
- 183. Alcock BP, Raphenya AR, Lau TTY, Tsang KK, Bouchard M, Edalatmand A, Huynh W, Nguyen A-L V, Cheng AA, Liu S. 2020. CARD 2020: antibiotic resistome surveillance with the comprehensive antibiotic resistance database. Nucleic Acids Res 48:D517–D525.
- 184. Curry B, Crow V. 2002. Encyclopedia of Dairy Sciences. New York, Elsevier Science Ltd.
- Behare P V, Singh R, Tomar SK, Nagpal R, Kumar M, Mohania D. 2010. Effect of exopolysaccharide-producing strains of Streptococcus thermophilus on technological attributes of fat-free lassi. J Dairy Sci 93:2874–2879.
- 186. Fukuda K, Shi T, Nagami K, Leo F, Nakamura T, Yasuda K, Senda A, Motoshima H, Urashima T. 2010. Effects of carbohydrate source on physicochemical properties of the exopolysaccharide produced by Lactobacillus fermentum TDS030603 in a chemically defined medium. Carbohydr Polym 79:1040–1045.
- 187. Wei Y, Li F, Li L, Huang L, Li Q. 2019. Genetic and biochemical characterization of an exopolysaccharide with in vitro antitumoral activity produced by Lactobacillus fermentum YL-11. Front Microbiol 10:2898.

188. Hickey CD, Fallico V, Wilkinson MG, Sheehan JJ. 2018. Redefining the effect of salt on thermophilic starter cell viability, culturability and metabolic activity in cheese. Food Microbiol 69:219–231.